
 
 

 

Queries about the agenda?  Need a different format? 
 

Contact Kate Clark – Tel: 01303 853267 
Email: committee@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk or download from our 

website 
www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

 

Date of Publication:  Friday, 28 August 2020 

 

Agenda 
 

Meeting: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 8 September 2020 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Place: Remote meeting 

  

To: All members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
 The committee will consider the matters, listed below, at the date and time 

shown above.  The meeting will be open to the press and public and will be 
streamed live at bit.ly/YouTubeMeetings. 
 
Members of the committee, who wish to have information on any matter 
arising on the agenda, which is not fully covered in these papers, are 
requested to give notice, prior to the meeting, to the Chairman or 
appropriate officer. 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

 Members of the committee should declare any interests which fall under 
the following categories: 
 
a) disclosable pecuniary interests (DPI); 
b) other significant interests (OSI); 
c) voluntary announcements of other interests. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 To consider and approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting 
held on 14 July 2020.  
 

4.   Oportunitas Limited - Progress Report and Business Plan 2020 - 2022 
(Pages 9 - 38) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:committee@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk
http://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/
https://bit.ly/YouTubeMeetings


Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 8 September 2020 

 
 This report proposes a Business Plan from the Board of Oportunitas Ltd 

(“the company”) covering its activities through to 31 March 2022. The 
report also provides a summary of the company’s provisional financial 
outturn position for 2019/20 as well as a trading update for 2020/21. The 
report is in-line with the requirement contained in the Shareholder’s 
agreement between the company and the Council. 
 

5.   Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Civil Penalties Policy 
(Pages 39 - 92) 
 

 Report OS/20/07 sets out details of the Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy and methodology and principles for determining the 
level of penalty charge for housing offences.  It is proposed that the policy 
will be made available for an eight week consultation period before being 
presented to Cabinet.  
 

 

Page 2



Declarations of Interest 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
 
Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 
disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 
that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The  
Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 
matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 
vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 
do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 
DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 
dispensations, withdraw from the meeting. 
 
Other Significant Interest (OSI) 
 
Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 
nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 
commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 
must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 
granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 
permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 
same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 
taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 
procedure rules. 
 
Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI) 
 
Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 
transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 
under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 
the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration. 
 
Note to the Code: 
Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 
bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 
involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 
affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 
financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 
Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 
relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 
some cases a DPI. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 
 

Minutes 
 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Held at: Remote meeting via Zoom 
  
Date Tuesday, 14 July 2020 
  
Present Councillors Miss Susan Carey, Gary Fuller, Peter Gane, 

Michelle Keutenius (Vice-Chair), Connor McConville, 
Terence Mullard, Rebecca Shoob (Chairman) and 
John Wing 

  
Apologies for Absence Councillor Danny Brook and Councillor Patricia Rolfe 
  
Officers Present:  Andy Blaszkowicz (Director of Housing and Operations), 

Kate Clark (Case Officer - Committee Services), Ewan 
Green (Director of Place), Adrian Hammond (Housing 
Strategy Manager), John Holman (Assistant Director of 
Housing), Andy Jarrett (Chief Strategic Development 
Officer), John Bunnett (Development Director), 
Amandeep Khroud (Assistant Director), Sue Lewis 
(Committee Services Officer), Susan Priest (Chief 
Executive) and Charlotte Spendley (Director of Corporate 
Services) 

  
Others Present: Councillors David Godfrey, Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee (for 

agenda items 4 and 5), Tim Mitford Slade (Strutt & 
Parker), Victoria Seal (BNP Paribar Real Estate) and Mrs 
Elaine Bostock (Chairperson of Shepway Tenants and 
Leaseholders Board) 
 

 
 

12. Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Rebecca Shoob declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as she is a 
Board member of Otterpool Park LLP as from 30 June 2020.  Councillor Shoob 
left the meeting entirely prior to the presentation of Agenda item 6.   
 

13. Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2020 were agreed and approved. 
The Chairman agreed that her electronic signature could be added to these 
minutes.   
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 14 July 2020 
 
 

 
 

 

14. Vision For the Housing Management Service 
 
This paper outlined the vision for the new Housing Management Service; 
describing the delivery principles that will provide operational clarity and 
accountability. The Vision is the long term destination for the Service; the 
initial work being to ensure the service is built on sound systems, 
processes and staff on which the culture and values will be shaped and 
embedded within the council. 
 
As portfolio holder for Housing, Cllr David Godfrey, introduced this item to 
members.  He then introduced Mrs Elaine Bostock, Chairperson of the 
Shepway Tenants and Leaseholders Board, who gave a short presentation 
which is attached to these minutes.  Mrs Bostock said that it is important 
tenants and leaseholders are involved and consulted upon various aspects of 
the Vision document.   
 
Members felt encouraged by the Vision document and made the following 
comments:   
 

 Carbon neutrality aspirations for new builds with the possibility of existing 
stock moving towards this as well. 

 Environmental aspects of existing stock, retro-fitting for added efficiency.  
Energy grant availability in attaining green standards for all stock.   

 The importance of neighbourhood officers building sustainable 
relationships with tenants rather than contact being made by multiple 
officers.   

 Service and compliance efficiency 

 Digital efficiency with the option of traditional services maintained for 
tenants/leaseholders. 

 Whistleblowing and transparency – a live reporting system and 
dashboard information are planned.   

 Safety – The Vision document is aspirational and a fresh start is needed, 
however it was noted that safety aspects could be added to the 
document.   

 
Members and Mrs Bostock thanked officers for the Draft Vision statement and 
the positive way forward. 
 
 

15. Draft Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2020/25 
 
This report set out details of the draft Homelessness Prevention Strategy for the 
district for the period 2020/25. It is proposed the draft strategy should be made 
available for an eight week consultation period. 
 
Cllr Godfrey introduced this report and congratulated the Homeless Preventions 
team on their work.  He advised members this draft strategy also relates to 
Councillor Mrs Hollingsbee’s portfolio with regard to street homelessness.   
 
Points noted by members:   

Page 6



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 14 July 2020 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 Housing First Project, a positive development which has proved 
successful in other countries.  Members suggested a briefing on this.   

 Groups that are at higher risk of homelessness could be those in pupil 
referral units and young people who are not in education, employment or 
training (NEETS).   

 A high percentage of approaches for housing assistance was from single 
people which shows an increased need for house shares preferably 
instead of HMOs.   

 Extend data searches using search engines and geographical locations, 
rather than solely using the Council’s website, to monitor housing service 
searches.  

 Members noted that over 30 street homeless persons were temporarily 
housed during the pandemic and work is ongoing with support.  
Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee stressed the importance of rough 
sleepers engaging with the Council for help.    

 Looking forward, the economic fallout and the risk of job losses and 
evictions is high due to Covid-19, not forgetting how this will affect 
homeowners.   

 
Members thanked the officers present and looked forward to the results of the 
Draft Homelessness Prevention Strategy consultation which will be shared with 
this committee and Cabinet.   
 
RESOLVED: 
Members received and noted report OS/20/06.   
 
Councillor Rebecca Shoob handed over chairman duties to Councillor Michelle 
Keutenius for the final item, prior to leaving the meeting entirely.   
 
Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee also left for the remainder of the meeting.   
 

16. Otterpool Park Business Plan - Initial Presentation 
 
The Committee received a presentation on the skeleton of the business 
plan for the development of Otterpool Park Garden Town together with a 
timetable for its completion. 
 
Mr John Bunnett, Director of Development, advised the committee that in 
presenting the business plan he was inviting members to comment with any 
issues they may have.  The presentation is attached to these minutes.   
 
Comments from members:   
 

 Infrastructure must be instep or ahead of housing development.  
Members were assured this was the plan 

 Transport infrastructure, particularly concentrating on A20.  KCC are 
predominantly looking at transport including cycling, walking and train 
links as well as highways.   

Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 14 July 2020 
 
 

 
 

 

 Traffic concerns, for example, speeds, volume and various junction 
changes will be looked at including the impact of the proposed Lorry Park 
at Ashford.   

 Self build/Community led housing.  An example used was a development 
called Marmalade Lane by TOWN in Cambridge.  Mr Bunnett will provide 
further details.   

 
Councillor Michelle Keutenius thanked all parties for the presentation given to 
members.   
 

Page 8



 

 

          
 

 
 

Report Number C/20/32 

 
 
To:  Cabinet      
Date:  16 September 2020 
Status:  Non-Key Decision      
Head of Service: Andy Blaszkowicz – Director of Housing and 

Operations 
Oportunitas Chairman: Councillor Patricia Rolfe 
Cabinet Member: Councillor David Monk, Leader and Portfolio Holder 

for Finance 
 
SUBJECT: OPORTUNITAS LIMITED – PROGRESS REPORT & 

BUSINESS PLAN 2020 - 2022 
 
SUMMARY: This report proposes a Business Plan from the Board of Oportunitas 
Ltd (“the company”) covering its activities through to 31 March 2022. The report 
also provides a summary of the company’s provisional financial outturn position 
for 2019/20 as well as a trading update for 2020/21. The report is in-line with the 
requirement contained in the Shareholder’s agreement between the company and 
the Council. 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Cabinet is asked to agree the recommendations set out below because the 
Shareholder Agreement between the company and the Council requires a 
Business Plan to be approved for the next trading period. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
1. To receive and note report C/20/32. 
2. To agree the Business Plan for Oportunitas Limited for the period 

through to 31 March 2022. 

This Report will be made 
public on 8 September 
2020 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 In line with the Shareholder’s agreement between Oportunitas Limited (“the 

company”) and the Council, this report;- 
 
i) provides a summary of the company’s activities and its provisional 

financial outturn position for the 2019/20 financial year, 
ii) provides an update on the company’s trading activities in 2020/21 based 

on the period to 31 July 2020, and 
iii) presents the company’s proposed Business Plan for the period 01 April 

2020 to 31 March 2022 for Cabinet’s approval. 
 

1.2 The Council created the company in 2014 and provided it with a total initial 
capital investment of £4.78m in the form of 90% debt and 10% equity to 
acquire land and property primarily to provide residential properties to let to 
families at rent levels at or just below market rates. It was recognised at the 
time that, despite being a significant amount, further investment would be 
required for the company to trade sustainable in the long term while 
continuing to provide the council with a return on its investment. 
 

1.3 On 28 February 2018, Cabinet approved a strategic financial review of the 
funding required to make the company financially sustainable in the long 
term while still providing a return to the Council as the sole shareholder. An 
additional capital investment of £6.9m was approved to enable the company 
to acquire further residential property for rent. Since then company has been 
exploring suitable property investment options. During the early part of this 
year the company agreed a deal to purchase 37 units of residential property 
‘off plan’ from a development taking place at the site of the former Royal 
Victoria Hospital (RVH) building in central Folkestone at a total cost of 
£6.45m. 
 

1.4 On 6 March 2020 the company’s Board considered and approved a business 
plan for the period to 31 March 2022 including the impact of the purchase of 
the RVH residential units. However, the business plan was prepared before 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic began to take effect. Subsequently the 
Board recognised the pandemic and other issues were likely to have an 
impact on the financial projections contained in the business plan and that it 
would be necessary to review the position before submitting a revised 
position to Cabinet. The Board considered and approved a revised business 
plan on 24 August 2020. 
  

1.5 At the same meeting the Board also received a summary of the company’s 
provisional financial outturn position for 2019/20 and a trading update for 
2020/21 for the period to 31 July 2020.  
 
 

2 PROVISIONAL FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2019/20 
 

2.1 The company’s financial outturn for the financial year ending 31 March 2020 
is shown in appendix 1 to this report and is subject to Audit. 

 
2.2 Profit and Loss Account Summary 

Page 10



 

 
 
 

i) The majority of the company’s turnover was from property rental 
income (£250k) 
 

ii) Its largest expense was the loan interest payable to the Council 
(£173k) 
 

iii) The company made a profit after tax of £119k including an unrealised 
property valuation gain of £210k 
 

iv) Adjusting for the property gain, the company made an operating loss 
of £52k, broadly in line with expectations 

 
 
2.3  Balance Sheet Summary 
 

i) Investment Assets - The company paid a deposit of £1.275m for the 
acquisition of 37 ‘off-plan’ residential units at the RVH site, Folkestone 
 

ii) Investment Assets – The company invested £79k to create an extra 
residential unit for its property at 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 
 

iii) The accrued loan interest payable to the Council of £458k at 31 March 
2019 was paid during 2019/20 in accordance with the loan agreement 
 

iv) Loans – The company utilised the remaining £778k of the Housing 
Acquisition loan from the Council. This had previously been deferred 
because the company had sufficient cash available to it through the 
original equity issue and surplus balances 
 

v) Share Capital and Premium – The Council increased its investment 
by £1.31m as the first part of its £6.9m agreed package to support the 
long term sustainability of the company 
 

vi) The Profit and Loss Reserve at 31 March 2020 is £170k. However, 
excluding the accumulated unrealised valuation gain of £549k, the 
accumulated operating loss is £310k 

 
 
2.4 As outlined in section 1 of this report above, the decision to invest a further 

£6.9m to support the company’s expansion is to allow it to trade efficiently 
and sustainably over the long term while maintaining value to the Council as 
the Shareholder.   

 
3 FINANCIAL UPDATE 2020/21 – TO 31 JULY 2020 

 
3.1 The company’s financial update for the current financial year to 31 July 

2020 is shown in appendix 2 to this report. 
 

Page 11



 

3.2 In summary, the company has seen a reduction of approximately £15k in its 
anticipated income from both its housing rental (£13k) and grounds 
maintenance activities (£2k) over the period to 31 July 2020 due, in part, to 
the impact of the Covid-19 crisis. The company is not expected to be able 
recover this reduction in income over the remainder of the financial year and 
it has been factored into the projected outturn position for 2020/21 covered 
in the updated Business Plan later in this report. 

 
3.3 Work has commenced on the RVH development and the company has made 

two stage payments totalling £330,750 for Phase A of the scheme to the 
developer (in addition to the original deposit of £1,275,000.00). Phase A of 
the scheme is on target to be completed and ready for occupation from July 
2021. The capital expenditure to date has been met from the Council’s new 
equity investment in the company. 

 
 
4. BUSINESS PLAN  - 1 APRIL 2020 TO 31 MARCH 2022 

 
4.1 In-line with Shareholder’s agreement, the company is required to have a 

current business plan approved by Cabinet. As outlined earlier in this 
report, on 24 August 2020 the company’s Board approved an updated 
business plan for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2022, to include 
the projected impact of Covid-19, and is appended to this report as 
appendix 3. 

 
4.2 The business plan covers the majority of the period during which the 

Council’s additional investment of £6.9m in the company will take place to 
allow it to acquire the 37 units of residential accommodation at the RVH 
development.  
 

4.3 The company is forecast to continue making an operating loss over the 
period before returning a profit once the full additional revenue stream from 
the RVH scheme is received. The cumulative projected operating loss at 31 
March 2022 is £478k. Financial modelling undertaken predicts it will take 
up to 7 years to clear the accumulated operating loss from the end of the 
business plan period. 
 

4.4 The business plan demonstrates the company’s cash flow over the period 
will meet its obligations based on the approved funding arrangements in 
place with the Council. 
 

4.5 The annual financial benefit to the Council from the company is projected to 
rise from £282k in 2020/21 to £355k in 2021/22.  
 

4.6 Cabinet is asked to endorse the Business Plan for the period to 31 March 
2022. 

 
 
5 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES 

 
5.1 A summary of the perceived risks follows: 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

Perceived risk Seriousness Likelihood 
Preventative 

action 

The company fail 
to meet their 
interest and loan 
repayment 
obligations to the 
Council on time 

High Low 

Regular financial 
updates from the 
Board to Cabinet to 
provide an early 
warning of any 
cash flow issues for 
the company. 
Loans are secured 
on the investment 
assets of the 
company.  

Company 
continues to 
make operating 
losses 
threatening its 
long term 
sustainability 

High Medium 

Approved 
additional Council 
investment of 
£6.9m in the 
company and the 
application of this 
as outlined in the 
business plan 
expected to ensure 
long term position  

Cost of RVH 
scheme 
increases 

High Medium 

The company has 
secured a fixed 
price contract with 
the developer to 
acquire the 
completed units 

The financial 
impact of Covid-
19 to the 
company lasts for 
longer than 
current 
expectations  

Medium Medium 

The Council’s loan 
agreement 
provides the 
company with the 
cash flow capacity 
to meet the impact 
of further financial 
uncertainty over 
the period of the 
business plan 

  
6. LEGAL/FINANCIAL AND OTHER CONTROLS/POLICY MATTERS 

 
6.1 Legal Officer’s Comments (NM) 

 
There are no legal issues arising directly from this report.  

 
6.2 Finance Officer’s Comments (LW) 

 
The provisional financial outturn for 2019/20 shown in appendix 1 and the 
Financial Update for 2020/21 shown in appendix 2 have been prepared by 

Page 13



 

the Finance Specialist Team. The proposed business plan shown in 
appendix 3, including the financial forecast and Shareholder benefit, has 
also been prepared in conjunction with the Finance Specialist Team. 

 
6.3 Diversities and Equalities Implications  

 
The report does not cover a new service or policy or a revision of either and 
therefore does not require an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 

7. CONTACT OFFICERS AND BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Councillors with any questions arising out of this report should contact the 
following officer prior to the meeting 
 
Andy Blaszkowicz, Director – Housing & Operations 
Tel: 01303 853684 email: andy.blaszkowicz@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

 
Lee Walker, Capital & Treasury Senior Specialist 
Tel: 01303 853593. e-mail: lee.walker@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

  
The following background documents have been relied upon in the 
preparation of this report: 
None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Financial Outturn for 2019/20 (Subject to Audit) 
Appendix 2 – Financial Update for 2020/21 
Appendix 3 – Oportunitas Limited Business Plan 2020-2022 
Appendix 3a – Oportunitas Property Portfolio 31 March 2020 

Page 14

mailto:andy.blaszkowicz@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk
mailto:lee.walker@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

Oportunitas Board Meeting 24 August 2020 

Oportunitas Limited Financial Outturn for 2019/20 (Subject to Audit) 

Prepared by Lee Walker 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This paper provides a summary of the provisional financial outturn position for 

the company for the year ending 31 March 2020. The Profit and Loss Account 

and the Balance Sheet are subject to an independent Audit. 

 

1.2 The Board will be separately asked to consider and approve the audited 

accounts for the year ending 31 March 2020 later this year. 

 

2. Profit and Loss Account 2019/20 

2.1 The Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31 March 2020 is shown 

below together with comparative information for the previous financial year. 

 

Profit and Loss Account 2019/20  2018/19 

 £  £ 

Housing Rental    

Rental Income 250,075  238,997 

Rental Expenses (87,105)  (63,415) 

Net 162,970  175,582 

    

Grounds Maintenance    

Income 24,451  66,033 

Expenses (17,480)  (58,109) 

Net 6,971  7,924 

    

Overheads    

Directors Remuneration (8,923)  (12,508) 

FHDC Officer Support (24,000)  (15,741) 

Operating Expenses (16,170)  (20,383) 

Total Overheads (49,093)  (48,632) 

    

Loan Interest (172,561)  (167,166) 

Unrealised Property Valuation Changes 209,993  132,952 

      

Profit before Tax 158,280  100,660 

Deferred Tax on Profit (39,570)  (25,261) 

Profit after Tax 118,710  75,399 

 

Page 15



2.2 The profit before taxation of £158k includes the unrealised valuation gain of 

£210k for the Company’s property portfolio. The company’s property portfolio 

is required to be valued at 31 March each year and the latest valuation, 

undertaken by the independent valuer Sibley Pares, shows there has been an 

average increase of about 4.5% over the year. 

2.3 Excluding the valuation gain, the company has made an operating loss of 

£52k for the financial year, £20k more than that for the previous year. The 

main reason for this increase is a provision for bad debts on rental income of 

£10k being made.  

2.4 The Grounds Maintenance position reflects the decision to focus on tree 

works rather than general gardening services. This has had little impact on the 

company’s net operating profit for the year. The Board are reminded that the 

company receives a net income of 20% over the cost of the work undertaken 

by the contractor, the Council’s Grounds Maintenance 

2.5 As previously outlined to the Board, the company’s trading activities of 

residential property lettings and grounds maintenance cover their direct costs, 

including loan interest, but do not generate sufficient surpluses to meet its 

overheads. The point of the strategic financial review in early 2018 was to 

agree a way forward through additional investment which would allow the 

company to become financially sustainable over the medium term and to 

continue to provide a return to the Council. 

2.6 The deferred Corporation Tax is based on the profit before tax and will only 

start to become payable when the Company makes an operating profit or 

should any assets be sold. 

 

3. Balance Sheet at 31 March 2020 

 

3.1 The Balance Sheet for the year ending 31 March 2020 with comparative 

information for the previous financial year and supporting notes is shown in 

appendix 1 to this paper. 

 

4. Recommendations 

 

4.1 The Board note the provisional outturn financial position for the year ending 

31 March 2020. 

 

 

Page 16



 
 

Notes to the Balance Sheet 

 

1. Investment Assets 

The company own 12 properties providing 38 units of residential accommodation and one 

commercial unit for rent. During the year the company entered into a contract and paid a 

deposit to acquire further residential units at the site of the former Royal Victoria Hospital 

(RVH) in Folkestone from a local developer. The change in value of the portfolio over the year 

is summarised below: 

 £ 
Portfolio value at 31 March 2019 4,563,500 
Conversion works 79,057 
Deposit – RVH Site 1,275,000 
Valuation Gains 209,993 

Portfolio value at 31 March 2020 6,127,550 

  

Appendix 1

Oportunitas Ltd - Draft Balance Sheet at 31 March 2020

31/03/2020 31/03/2019

Fixed Assets £ £ £ £

Investment Assets 6,127,550 4,563,500

6,127,550 4,563,500

Current Assets

Debtors 21,414 26,836

Bank Account 206,376 47,113

VAT Liability (428) 11,284

227,362 85,233

Current Liabilities

Creditors : Short Term (18,540) (19,992)

Loans (principal due within 12 monhs) (27,444) -

Loan Interest - (458,399)

(45,984) (478,391)

Current Assets less Current Liabilities: 181,378 (393,158)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities: 6,308,928 4,170,342

Long Term Liabilities

Creditors : Long Term

Loans (4,281,306) (3,611,000)

Deferred Corporation Tax (69,400) (29,830)

(4,350,706) (3,640,830)

Total Assets less Total Liabilities: 1,958,222 529,512

Capital & Reserves

Share Capital 955 300

Share Premium 1,787,796 478,451

Profit & Loss Account 169,471 50,761

1,958,222 529,512

Page 17



 
2. Debtors 

 

 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 
 £ £ 
Rent Arrears 19,527 11,227 
Less Bad Debt Provision    (10,000) - 

Net Rent Arrears 9,527 11,227 
Prepayments 9,681 8,598 
Trade Debtors 2,206 7,011 

Total Debtors 21,414 26,836 

 

3. Creditors (Short Term) 

 

 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 
 £ £ 
Trade Creditors 14,528 15,973 
Receipts in Advance 2,137 2,144 
Rent Deposit 1,875 1,875 

Total Creditors 18,540 19,992 

 

4. Loans 

The Council has a loan agreement the Company to support the acquisition of property 

(£4.309m) and provide a working capital facility (£0.3m) for short term cash flow 

requirements. The existing loan facility for property acquisitions has been fully utilised during 

2019/20 and this becomes repayable from 30 September 2020 over a 45 year period. The 

movement in loans over the year is summarised below  

 

 Housing 
Acquisition 

Loan 

Working 
Capital Loan 

Total 
Loans 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance 31 March 2019 (3,531) (80) (3,611) 
Advances (778) - (778) 
Repayments - 80            80 

Balance 31 March 2020 (4,309) - (4,309) 

    
Due less 12 months 28   
Due long term 4,281   

Total 4,309   

 

5. Share Capital and Share Premium 

The Council has increased its investment in the Company during 2019/20. This is part of an 

agreed investment package of £6.9m to support the Company’s expansion to enable it to 

trade sustainable in the long term while providing a return to the Council as the sole 

shareholder.  

 

6. Profit and Loss Account Reserve 

The Profit and Loss Account Reserve is analysed in the table below 

 

 Operating Loss Deferred Tax 
Liability 

Valuation 
Changes 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance B/F (258) (30) 339 51 
Movement 
19/20 

(52) (39) 210 119 

Balance C/F (310) (69) 549 170 

 

Page 18



Appendix 2 

Oportunitas Board Meeting 24 August 2020 

Oportunitas Limited – Financial Update for 2020/21  

Prepared by Lee Walker 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This paper provides an update to the Board of the company’s financial 

position for the current financial year. It covers the latest trading position to 31 

July 2020 reported through the Profit and Loss Account and summarises the 

capital expenditure incurred. 

 

2. Profit and Loss Account 

 

2.1 The summarised Profit and Loss Account to 31 July 2020 together with the 

original projection for the current financial year is shown below. 

 

Profit and Loss Account 

Actual 
01/04/2020 

to 
31/07/2020  

Profiled 
Projection 

to 
31/07/2020  Variance 

 £  £  £ 

Housing Rental      

Rental Income 76,918  89,839  (12,921) 

Rental Expenses (28,143)  (28,611)  468 

Net 48,775  61,228  (12,453) 

      

Grounds Maintenance      

Income 79  10,200  (10,121) 

Expenses (63)  (8,160)  8,097 

Net 16  2,040  (2,024) 

      

Overheads      

Directors Remuneration (3,223)  (3,787)  564 

FHDC Officer Support (7,752)  (6,800)  (952) 

Operating Expenses (1,598)  (15,666)  14,068 

Total Overheads (12,573)  (26,253)  13,680 

      

Loan Interest (70,089)  (69,512)  (577) 

      

P & L Operating Surplus / 
(Deficit) for period (33,871)  (32,497)  (1,374) 

 

Page 19



2.2 Housing Rental Income - The rental income for the period is approximately 

£13k lower than anticipated due to increases in both the void period for 

properties being re-let (£7k) and rent arrears (£6k). In both cases Covid-19 is 

a factor for the reduced income. The loss of income due to voids is expected 

to reduce over the remainder of this year following the easing of the lockdown 

restrictions. However one unit will remain empty until at least October 2020 

because of repairs required following a serious water leak. As the Board are 

already aware, action is being taken at the moment to tackle the level of rent 

arrears with the position being closely monitored.   

 

2.3 Grounds Maintenance - The Covid-19 crisis has virtually curtailed the tree-

work and other grounds maintenance work forecast to take place to the end of 

July and resulted in a net loss of income of £2k. As some of the work is 

regular in nature or takes place during the summer months, it is anticipated 

this will be now be lost for the year.  

 

2.4 Overheads - Although there is currently an underspending of about £14k on 

the overhead expenses, on a profiled basis, there are significant items which 

will be incurred later in the financial year which will negate this. This includes 

annual audit and valuation fees and a loan arrangement fee from the Council 

for a new agreement currently being put in place.  

 

3. Capital Expenditure – Royal Victoria Hospital (RVH) Development 

 

3.1 The table summarises the latest position for capital expenditure incurred on 

the RVH development. 

 

Date Description Amount £ 
17/02/2020 Deposit – Phases A & B 1,275,000 
11/06/2020 Phase A – stage payment no. 1 110,250 
07/08/2020 Phase A – stage payment no. 2 220,500 

 Total Paid 1,605,750 

 

3.2 The funding of the capital expenditure incurred has been met from the 

proceeds of the Council’s new equity investment in the company. 

 

 

4. Recommendations 

 

4.1 The Board note the latest financial position for 2020/21 outlined in this paper. 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



 

 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Oportunitas Business Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OPORTUNITAS LIMITED 

 

BUSINESS PLAN 

2020-2022 

 

UPDATED VERSION  

24 AUGUST 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

 

 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 This document presents an updated version of the business plan for 

Oportunitas Limited, the Council’s wholly owned housing and 
regeneration company, for the period 1 April 2020 through to 31 March 
2022.  The original version of the business plan was approved by the 
Board on 12 March 2020. This version updates the business plan to 
reflect the anticipated impact of Covid-19 pandemic crisis and other 
changes on the company’s activities. In accordance with the 
Shareholder’s Agreement, the business plan is required to be considered 
and approved by Cabinet, planned for 16 September 2020. 

 
 1.2 Following success in the trading period from its inception in September 

2014 to March 2020, Oportunitas will;- 
 

- continue to invest in a Housing Acquisitions & Rental Programme 
– a land and property  acquisition and conversion/refurbishment 
programme to provide residential properties to let to families at 
rental levels at or just below market rates, and  

 
- explore commercial investment opportunities in line with its 

objectives, where the financial returns required in the business 
plan can be demonstrated; and  
 

1.2 The Company’s Objectives  
 
1.2.1  The objectives are set out in Schedule 4 of the Shareholder’s 

Agreement.  These objectives formalise the scope of the intended 
activities, and are stated as follows: 

 
- To lead the co-ordination and brokerage of regeneration, economic 

and development activity; 
 

- To acquire housing and property to make available housing for 
rent and sale on a range of tenures including (but not limited to) 
shared ownership, shared equity, market sale and rent, affordable 
rent; 

 
- To lead site development activity including securing private 

investment interest where appropriate; 
 

- Facilitating partnership development arrangements to bring 
forward housing and employment site opportunities across the 
district of Folkestone & Hythe, including where appropriate joint 
ventures with other organisations; 

 

Page 22



 

 

 
 

- To develop residential housing either for market rent or private 
sale or in partnership with a registered provider of social housing; 

 
- To develop or hold commercial employment or industrial uses of 

land and buildings; 
 

- To develop or carry out such infrastructure works as are required 
to deliver any development or project; 

 
- To commission conversion, improvement works and any other 

professional services relating to the Business; 
 

- To carry out such trading activities as are identified in the business 
plan, initially relating to grounds and parks maintenance; and 

 
- To carry out such trading activities as the Council and the 

Company may agree from time to time.  

 
 
2. STRUCTURE OF THE BUSINESS PLAN 
 
2.1 The rest of this document will review the company’s activities undertaken 

to date and outline what is planned for the next two years.  
 
2.2 Progress will be kept under review by the Board at regular intervals during 

the period of this business plan. If changes are necessary or amendments 
are made during this period the appropriate processes will be followed as 
laid out in the corporate control documents. 

 
2.3 The final version of the business plan approved by the Board is required to 

be submitted to the Shareholder (Cabinet) for approval, expected to be the 
Cabinet meeting due on 16 September 2020. 

 

3. BACKGROUND - ACTIVITY TO DATE 

 
3.1 Housing Acquisitions, Conversions and Rental programme 

3.1.1 To date 12 properties have been acquired providing 38 units of residential 
accommodation and one commercial unit for rent.  The commercial unit is 
contained within the ground floor level of one of the residential properties.  
Smith Woolley (SW) has been providing property search and assessment 
services and currently manage most of the properties.  Reeds Rains also 
manage a couple of the first units acquired and, as these become 
available to re-let, the Board will consider their future management 
arrangements to ensure that the most advantageous arrangements are 
secured. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 
 

3.1.2 All rents have been set at a market level and acquisitions to date have 
been financed at a 90:10 loan to equity ratio.  The original loan funding 
provided by the Council for acquiring properties to rent at market levels 
was at an interest rate of 4.88% (4% if the properties acquired were to be 
let at affordable rents) 

 
3.1.3 Prior to the strategic financial review in 2018, covered in section 5 below, 

an initial £4.78m was approved by the shareholder to support the 
company and, to date, approximately £4.3m has been invested in the 12 
properties acquired, including fees. In summary the property portfolio; 

 

 is generating an average gross yield of 5.8%, 

 has seen its value increase by 18.8% since acquisition to 31 
March 2020, 

 has seen its net value, after Stamp Duty Land Tax, increase by 
£547k since acquisition to 31 March 2020 

 
A detailed list of the property portfolio with valuations and yields is shown 
in appendix 1 to the business plan.   
 

3.1.4 The property portfolio was revalued at 31 March 2020 by an independent 
RICS qualified valuer and this resulted in an average increase of 4.5% in 
its value over the year. 
  

3.2  Grounds Maintenance Activity 
 
3.2.1  The Company, since its inception in 2014 had offered a range of 

gardening and grounds maintenance services to both local residents and 
businesses that utilized the resources of the Council’s Grounds 
Maintenance Unit as part of its diversified commercial offering. The 
following grounds maintenance services were agreed to be provided on 
behalf of the Company: 

 
 Grass and hedge cutting 

 Hanging baskets, annual flower, displays, shrub and rose beds 

 Soft landscaping, including planting and turfing 

 Sport pitch maintenance, including line marking 

 Tree advice, management and associated works 

 Weed killing including hard surface treatments and Japanese 
Knotweed treatment 

3.2.2 However, changes to the demands on the Grounds Maintenance unit 
have meant a reduction in the capacity to provide this service and the 
overall long term commercial viability of providing these services against 
local competitors within the market has seen a realignment of grounds 
maintenance offering to broadly focus on tree-related work for external 

Page 24



 

 

 
 

customers. The Company will instead continue with its strategic focus on 
seeking out development and investment opportunities within the property 
market to generate greater commercial returns for the shareholder. 

 
3.2.3 This change has resulted in a small reduction in the net income to the 

company of about £6,000 per year from these works. Additionally, the 
impact of Covid-19 has curtailed most of this work in the first half of 
2020/21 and will see a further reduction in the net income of about 
£3,000. These changes are reflected in the financial position in section 4 
below. 
 

4 COMPANY FINANCIAL POSITION  
 
4.1 Profit and Loss Account 2019/20 (Subject to Audit) 
 
4.1.1  The table below summarises the company’s Profit and Loss Account for 

the year to 31 March 2020 with comparative figures for the previous 
financial year and shows the accumulated trading loss, before 
adjustments for unrealised property valuation gains are reflected. 

 Table 1 Company’s Profit and Loss Account 

Profit and Loss Account 
2018/19  2019/20 

 £  £ 

Housing Rental    

Rental Income 238,997  250,075 

Rental Expenses (63,415)  (87,105) 

Net 175,582  162,970 

    

Grounds Maintenance    

Income 66,033  24,451 

Expenses (58,109)  (17,480) 

Net 7,924  6,971 

    

Overheads    

Directors Remuneration (12,508)  (8,923) 

FHDC Officer Support (15,741)  (24,000) 

Operating Expenses (20,383)  (16,170) 

Total Overheads (48,632)  (49,093) 

    

Loan Interest (167,166)  (172,561) 

      

P & L Operating Surplus / (Deficit) for 
period (32,292)  (51,713) 

P & L Operating Loss b/f (226,158)  (258,450) 

P & L Operating Loss c/f (258,450)  (310,163) 

Page 25



 

 

 
 

 

4.1.2 The company’s full profit and loss account includes the unrealised 
valuation adjustments and any deferred tax liability arising from these. 
However, these items do not impact on the company’s cash position and 
are excluded from the figures in Table 1, above. 

4.1.3 Table 1 shows the company made an operating loss of about £51k in the 
year to 31 March 2020, subject to Audit. This means the accumulated 
operating loss is £310k. Although this may appear to be a cause for 
concern it is not unexpected. The point of the strategic financial review in 
early 2018 was to agree a way forward through additional investment 
which would allow the company to become financially sustainable over 
the medium term and to continue to provide a return to the Council. 

4.1.4 In broad terms, the company’s trading activities of residential property 
lettings and grounds maintenance cover their direct costs, including loan 
interest, but do not generate sufficient surpluses to meet its overheads.  

4.1.5 The company’s accounts are independently audited at the end of each 
financial year and have, so far, received an unqualified audit opinion to 
say they are a fair and accurate record of its financial activities. 

 

4.2 Profit and Loss Forecast for 2020/21 & 2021/22 

4.2.1 The company is expected to continue making losses over the next two 
financial years, again before any adjustment for unrealised property 
valuation changes. For 2020/21 the annual operating loss is forecast to be 
about £117k, reducing to £50k in 2021/22. This will leave the company with 
an accumulated operating loss £478k at 31 March 2022. Further detail of 
this shown in table 2 below: 

Table 2 Forecast Profit and Loss Account 2020/21 and 2021/22 

 

Profit and Loss Account 2020/21  2021/22 

 £  £ 

Housing Rental    

Rental Income 264,114  405,383 

Rental Expenses (93,936)  (135,755) 

Net 170,178  269,628 

    

Grounds Maintenance    

Income 15,300  30,000 

Expenses (12,240)  (24,000) 

Net 3,060  6,000 

    

Overheads    

Directors Remuneration (11,361)  (11,588) 

FHDC Officer Support (23,256)  (23,721) 

Page 26



 

 

 
 

Operating Expenses (47,534)  (23,138) 

Total Overheads (82,150)  (58,447) 

    

Loan Interest (208,535)  (267,457) 

      

P & L Operating Surplus / (Deficit) for period (117,448)  (50,276) 

P & L Operating Loss b/f (310,163)  (427,611) 

P & L Operating Loss c/f (427,611)  (477,887) 

    

Loan Repayments    

Loan 1 (27,261)  (28,608) 

Loan 2 0  0 

Total Loan Repayments (27,261)  (28,608) 

 

 

4.2.2 During the period of this two year forecast the company will be making 
stage payments for the conversion and construction of further residential 
accommodation at the Royal Victoria Hospital (RVH) site in Folkestone, 
explained in more detail in section 5 below. During 2020/21 the company 
will incur additional interest and other finance costs of £62k which is the 
main reason for the increase in the projected loss.  

4.2.3  In 2021/22 the company expects to start receiving the net benefit of the 
additional rental stream from phase one of the RVH scheme and this is 
the main reason for the reduction in the operating loss for the year to 
£50k.  

4.2.4 Forecasts also predict the company will return an operating profit of about 
£15k in 2022/23 increasing to just about £80k in 2023/24, the first 
financial year it receives the full benefit from both phases of the 
investment in the RVH scheme. At this point the accumulated operating 
loss is projected to have reduced to about £384k and it is likely to take a 
further 4 to 5 years before this has been cleared. 

 

4.3 Company Cash Flow Forecast  

 

4.3.1 The Company’s cash flow forecast for the period of the business plan to 31 
March 2022 is shown in the table below: 

  

Page 27



 

 

 
 

 

 Table 3 Cash Flow Forecast 

 

4.3.2 The cash flow forecast demonstrates the company has sufficient cash 
resources available to it to meet its existing commitments and planned 
expenditure for the next two years including the investment in the RVH 
scheme totaling £6.7m. This position is based on the approved equity and 
loan funding package agreed by the Council in February 2018 as part of 
the strategic financial review of the company and outlined in more detail 
in section 5 below. 

 

4.4 Shareholder Benefit 

4.4.1 The gross shareholder benefit to the Council from Oportunitas for the 

period from 2018/19 to 2021/22 is shown in the table below: 

  

31/03/2020 31/03/2021 31/03/2022

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash b/f 47 207 228

Cap Ex - Claremont Rd Extension (79) -                   -                  

Cap Ex - RVH (1,275) (3,725) (1,700)

P & L net position (51) (117) (50)

Net Movement Debtor/Creditors 15 -                   -                  

Payment Accrued Interest (458) -                   -                  

Main Loan Repayments -                  (27) (29)

Drawdown Loan 1 778 -                   -                  

Drawdown Loan 2 0 770 1,700

Working Capital Repayment (80) -                   -                  

Equity 1,310 3,120 -                  

Cash c/f 207 228 149

Page 28



 

 

 
 

 

 Table 4 Shareholder Benefit 

 

 

5. FUTURE ACTIVITIES  

 

5.1 Strategic Financial Review Funding  

 
5.1.1 On 28 February 2018, Cabinet considered and approved a report regarding 

the future strategy for Oportunitas. This report included the outcomes of 
detailed strategic financial review of the level of investment required to 
make the company financially sustainable in the long term while still 
providing a return to the Council as the sole shareholder. In summary, the 
outcomes of this review in terms of the company were: 

 

 £6.9m minimum additional capital investment required to acquire 
further residential properties to provide an enhanced revenue stream to 
trade sustainably; 

 The overall debt to equity ratio required to be 58%:42%; 

 Commercial interest on the loan element to remain at 4.88%;  

 A minimum gross rental yield of 5% is required for new acquisitions; 

 It will take at least 2 years for the company to acquire the additional 
residential property; 

 It will take about a further 4 years from the completing the acquisitions 
to generate sufficient operational profits to absorb the forecast 
accumulated loss of around £300k; and 

 The existing £300k liquidity loan facility to be reviewed.  
 

5.1.2 Subsequently, full Council approved the £6.9m additional capital 
investment as part of the update to the Medium Term Capital Programme.  

 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Actual Actual Forecast Forecast

£ £ £ £

Interest received -168,405 -172,561 -208,535 -267,457

Cost reimbursement

Staff Cost -15,741 -24,000 -23,256 -23,721

Members Allowances -12,508 -8,923 -11,361 -11,588

Grounds Maintenance -58,109 -17,480 -12,240 -24,000

Loan repayments 0 0 -27,261 -28,608

Total Return -254,763 -222,964 -282,653 -355,374

Page 29



 

 

 
 

 
5.2  Royal Victoria Hospital - Background  

5.2.1  The Royal Victoria Hospital (RVH) was originally established as a small 
general hospital containing administrative offices, general and private 
wards, designed by Joseph Gardner and opened in 1890.  

5.2.2 The hospital has a local history of serving generations of Folkestone 
residents as voluntary and military hospital before becoming part of the 
National Health Service from 1948. In 1979, the introduction of the new 
William Harvey Hospital in Ashford saw gradual scaling down of NHS 
services provided at the RVH until the final wards in the main building 
closed in 2006. The 2.3 acre site on Radnor Park Avenue since closure 
has remained derelict and was purchased by Kent County Council from 
East Kent Hospitals University Trust before being sold on to a local 
developer in November 2018 that realises its wider regeneration and 
development potential.  

5.3.  RVH - The Proposal  

5.3.1 As part of the company’s commitment to explore commercial 
opportunities in line with its wider business objectives, Oportunitas has 
been involved in negotiations to purchase ‘off plan’ from the developer at 
a cost of £6.45 million, the first two phases of the proposed RVH 
development that will incorporate: 

 Phase 1: The regeneration and conversion of the existing hospital 
building into 18 units comprising of 15x 2 bedroom and 3x 1 
bedroom apartments proposed for completion in summer of 2021. 
This will provide an additional gross rental of about £202k per year. 

 

 Phase 2: A newly developed block adjacent to the existing hospital 
building of 19 units comprising of 17 x 2 bedroom and 2 x 1 
bedroom apartments proposed for completion in the summer of 
2022. This will provide an additional gross rental of about £207k per 
year. 

5.3.2  The acquisition of both phases 1 and 2 of the completed scheme will 
generate an additional gross income of £407k per year which is a yield of 
about 6.4% on the investment.  This yield is comparable with the existing 
property portfolio and in line with the company’s target return.  

5.3.3  Should there be a delay to the scheme or it takes longer than anticipated 
to let all the units on completion then this is likely to adverse effect on the 
profit and loss position for the company over and it will take longer to 
clear the accumulated losses outlined in section 4 above. 

5.3.4 In addition to the projected financial benefits to the Company, the 
investment in the scheme secures a regeneration benefit to this locally 
significant Victorian building within central Folkestone and will 

Page 30



 

 

 
 

complement existing local regeneration projects, including the Radnor 
Park Lodge and Folkestone Harbour Arm as well as the Council’s wider 
regeneration strategy for the future of Folkestone Town Centre.  

 

6. RISK MATTERS 

6.1 Company Risks Identified 
 
6.1.1 Table 6 below presents a matrix style assessment providing a judgement 

on the combination of probability/likelihood of occurrence and severity of 
impact on the Company.  All risks will be kept under review during the 
year. 

 
 

Table 6  Company risks - detailed assessment 

Company Risk 
Prob-
ability 

Impact Risk Management Action 

LEGAL 

A Contractual 
Disputes 

Low Medium Governance structures in place to 
ensure that contracts which require 
Council approval are considered 
appropriately. Oportunitas will take 
appropriate legal advice before entering 
into contracts. 

B The balance 
between Council 
control and the 
Company’s ability 
to deliver against 
its Business Plan 
results in the 
Company’s 
inability to 
operate 
effectively 
 

Low High Detailed definitions contained within the 
key corporate governance documents 
mitigate against this risk. Board is given 
adequate decision-making powers and 
independence. 

LEGAL / FINANCE 

C Breach of EU 
state aid rules 

Low Medium Independent legal advice sought when 
the company was established which 
confirmed Council’s funding of the 
Company was compliant with state aid 
rules. 
 
 
 

FINANCE 

Page 31



 

 

 
 

D The Company 
fails to adhere to 
loan repayment 
obligations 

Low Medium A repayment schedule is prepared and 
financial matters are discussed 
regularly with the board. Quarterly 
reports are given to Cabinet. 
 
 

E Failure of housing 
to be competitive 
and/or attractive 
to tenants 

Low Low The acquisition programme is 
professionally managed to ensure a 
competitive product is offered.  

F Rental income 
returns fall short 
of projections 
included in the 
Business Plan 

Low Medium Rental values are kept under review 
and financial implications reported to 
the Board. Changes will be made to 
activities if necessary and appropriate 
returns are not made. 

G Failure to arrange 
adequate 
insurance cover 
for the 
Company’s 
liabilities and 
assets 

Low Medium The Council’s Finance Team is has 
appropriate insurance in place. The 
Shareholders Agreement enables the 
Company to purchase and maintain 
adequate insurance against all risks 
comparable to that insured by 
companies carrying out similar 
business  

H Failure to arrange 
adequate 
insurance cover 
for the 
Company’s 
Directors 

Low Medium The Company has insurance in place 
for its Directors against any liability 
which may be incurred in relation to 
their role as Company Director 

I Challenge from 
auditors (Council 
or external) 

Low Low The Company has appointed its own 
external auditors and accountant. 

J Failure to comply 
with taxation laws 
(Corporation Tax 
and VAT) 

Low Low The company will take independent tax 
advice.  

K Properties 
decrease in value 
resulting in an 
impairment 

Low / 
Medium 

High The Company Board will keep under 
review and if necessary will look at 
options such as changing the mix of 
portfolio, refinancing or sale of 
properties. 
 

L Movement in 
interest rates 

Medium Medium The Business plan will take into 
account the likelihood of medium to 
long term increases in interest rates 
and the impact this will have on 
viability of future activities, adjusting 
activities accordingly. 

Page 32



 

 

 
 

 

FINANCE / OPERATIONAL 

M Assumption of 
values for 
acquisition and 
refurbishment and 
rental yields 
proves to be 
inadequate 

Medium High Need to regularly review the market 
conditions to ensure that the activity is 
managed within the overall budget 
envelope. 

OPERATIONAL 

N Mechanism for 
drawing down 
funding proves to 
be too slow and 
costly to facilitate 
delivery of 
acquisitions 
programme 

Low High Facility is agreed for Council draw down 
process.   

O Higher level of 
voids than 
projected or rent 
arrears 

Low High A void rate of 3% has been included in the 
Business Plan and will be regularly 
reviewed.  Rent arrears kept under review 
with immediate action taken for non-
payment.  

P Allowances for 
maintenance and 
repairs in the 
Business Plan 
prove to be 
inadequate 

Low Medium This has been allowed for in the Business 
Plan and will be regularly reviewed.  

Q Conflict of interest 
over workload 
priorities of 
Council and 
Company 

Low Medium Council will retain control over the staffing 
of the Company. Council resources will be 
invoiced to the Company. 

R Lack of capacity 
to manage the 
Company’s 
workload 

Low Medium Staff resources carefully managed and 
balance of staffing needs regularly 
reviewed, with flexibility retained to 
provide additional capacity as required. 

S The Company is 
inadequately 
resourced in 
terms of 
management, 
accounting, legal 
and admin 

Low Medium As above. 

Page 33



 

 

 
 

PROCUREMENT 

T Failure to adhere 
to EU 
procurement rules 

Low Low Procurement rules transferred to the 
Company from the Council including the 
use of approved procurement 
frameworks. 

OTHER 

U Conflict of interest 
for members 
acting as 
Directors of the 
Company 

Low Medium            In accordance with the Council’s 
constitution dispensations have been 
granted to Councillors allowing them to 
speak and vote at meetings where 
Company affairs are being discussed.   

V Company strays 
beyond its 
objectives 

Low High Objectives clearly defined within 
governance documents and protected by 
annual Council approval of the 
Company’s rolling Business Plan. 

W Inaccuracy in 
stock condition 
information on the 
properties prior to 
acquisition 
leading to 
unexpected 
maintenance 
costs 

Low Medium Detailed stock condition information 
acquired prior to acquisition. Surveys 
undertaken as needed to ascertain 
expected maintenance costs. 

X Inclusion of 
trading activities 
weakens the 
Company’s 
strategic focus 

Low Medium The Company will provide mechanism for 
invoicing private work and will not detract 
from the strategic objectives of the 
Company’s programme of activities. 

Page 34



 

 

 
 

Appendix A: Scheme of Delegation & Financial Thresholds –  
Board decisions need to be taken in a timely manner to pursue property purchases.  The 
financial delegation thresholds are included as per the Shareholder’s Agreement with 
financial delegations for works, supplies and services aligned with existing FHDC thresholds:  
 
Works, Services & Supplies: 
 

Total Value Type of Contract Procedure 

£1,000 to £9,999 Works, supplies and 

services 

At least one quote to be 

obtained in advance 

£10,000 to £99,999 Works, supplies and 

services 

At least three quotes to be 

obtained in advance 

100,000to £164,175  Works, supplies and 

services 

At least three written 

tenders in advance 

following advertisement by 

public notice.   

. 

£164,176 Supplies and services EU rules apply. 

£164,176 to £4,104,393 Works Full competitive process 

with tenders following 

advertisement by public 

notice 

£4,104,394 plus Works EU rules apply 

 

Property Acquisitions: 

Total Value Type of Contract Procedure 

£0 to £150,000 Purchase of property Officer decision in 

consultation with a senior 

director, subsequent 

notification of the 

purchase to the Board 

£150,001 to £250,000 Purchase of property Officer recommendation 

with sign-off by two senior 

directors, subsequent 

notification of the 

purchase to the Board 

Page 35



 

 

 
 

£250,000 and over Purchase of property Board decision. 

  

Note: ‘Officer’ of the Council is seconded to work for the company via the SLA, they then 

effectively have the powers and delegations given to them through the company’s governing 

documents, including the Shareholder’s Agreement.  This should then be sufficient to enable 

an officer acting on behalf of the Company to agree to purchase a property in accordance with 

the above table. 

Delegations / Authorised Signatories  

Delegation levels will be established for key Company staff (and FHDC Officers delegated to 

support the Company) and Board members and included in the Shareholder’s Agreement.  

Proposals are that signing authorities will be:  

 Cheques and other bank payments up to £10,000 - FHDC Officer with delegated authority;  

 Cheques and other bank payments £10,000 and over - Senior Director, or FHDC Officer 
with delegated authority;  

 All external contracts – Chairman or Senior Director;  

 Approval of Purchase Orders - FHDC Officer with delegated authority;  

 Approval of Purchase invoices up to £10,000 - FHDC Officer with delegated authority;  

 Approval of Purchase invoices £10,000 and above – Senior Director, or FHDC Officer with 
delegated authority;  

 Loan Agreements – Chairman or Senior Director; and 

 Funding Agreements – Chairman or Senior Director.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 36



Appendix 3a (Business Plan Appendix 1)
Oportunitas Limited Property Schedule at March 2020

ITEM 
NUMBER

ASSET 
REFERENCE

PROPERTY ADDRESS DESCRIPTION 
PURCHASE COST 

(EXCLUDING SDLT)
VALUATION AT 

31/03/20
CURRENT 
RENT PCM

RENTAL YIELD 
%

1 AR0001 Flat 1, 2 Walter Tull Way, Folkestone 1 bed flat £151,000 £550 4.37%

2 AR0002 Flat 2, 2 Walter Tull Way, Folkestone 1 bed flat £144,500 £540 4.48%

3 AR0003 4 Walter Tull Way, Folkestone 2 bed house £155,000 £216,500 £775 4.30%

4 AR0004 6 Watler Tull Way, Folkestone 2 bed house £155,000 £216,500 £700 3.88%

5 AR0005 16 Walter Tull Way, Folkestone 3 bed house £170,000 £236,700 £850 4.31%

6 AR0006 2 Grove Terrace, Folkestone 4 bed house £160,000 £202,000 £865 5.14%

7 AR0007a Flat 1, 15 Grace Hill, Folkestone 1 bed flat £102,700 £560 6.54%

8 AR0007b Flat 2, 15 Grace Hill, Folkestone 1 bed flat £102,700 £585 6.84%

9 AR0007c Flat 3, 15 Grace Hill, Folkestone 1 bed flat £99,100 £585 7.08%

10 AR0007d Flat 4, 15 Grace Hill, Folkestone 1 bed flat £93,500 £510 6.55%

11 AR0007e Flat 5, 15 Grace Hill, Folkestone 1 bed flat £93,500 £515 6.61%

12 AR0007f Commercial Unit, 15 Grace Hill Office space £81,000 £625 9.26%

13 AR0008a Flat 1, 82 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £103,250 £590 6.86%

14 AR0008b Flat 2, 82 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £120,000 £590 5.90%

15 AR0008c Flat 3, 82 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £120,000 £560 5.60%

16 AR0008d Flat 4, 82 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £114,500 £600 6.29%

17 AR0009a Flat 1, 84 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £103,250 £625 7.26%

18 AR0009b Flat 2, 84 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £120,000 £550 5.50%

19 AR0009c Flat 3 84 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £120,000 £545 5.45%

20 AR0009d Flat 4, 84 Leyburne Road, Dover 2 bed flat £114,500 £550 5.76%

21 AR0010a Flat 1, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £133,500 £635 5.71%

22 AR0010b Flat 2, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £143,750 £640 5.34%

23 AR0010c Flat 3, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 2 bed flat £176,000 £675 4.60%

24 AR0010d Flat 4, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £138,500 £625 5.42%

25 AR0010e Flat 5, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £133,500 £610 5.48%

26 AR0010f Flat 6, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £133,500 £595 5.35%

27 AR0010g Flat 7, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £122,750 £610 5.96%

28 AR0010h Flat 8, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £122,750 £605 5.91%

29 AR0010i Flat 9, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £117,250 £610 6.24%

30 AR0010j Flat 10, 19 Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone 1 bed flat £117,250 £605 6.19%

31 AR0011a Flat 1, 84 Sidney Street, Folkestone 1 bed flat £115,000 £530 5.53%

32 AR0011b Flat 2, 84 Sidney Street, Folkestone 1 bed flat £97,500 £535 6.58%

33 AR0011c Flat 3, 84 Sidney Street, Folkestone 1 bed flat £97,500 £525 6.46%

34 AR0011d Flat 4, 84 Sidney Street, Folkestone 2 bed flat £85,250 £625 8.80%

35 AR0012a Flat 1, 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 1 bed flat £87,250 £550 7.56%

36 AR0012b Flat 2, 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 1 bed flat £97,500 £550 6.77%

37 AR0012c Flat 3, 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 1 bed flat £97,500 £535 6.58%

38 AR0012d Flat 4, 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 1 bed flat £80,100 £460 6.89%

39 AR0012e Flat 1a, 1 Claremont Road, Folkestone 1 bed flat £80,000 £101,000 £595 7.07%

Total £4,085,000 £4,852,550 £23,385 5.78%

Gain on purchase price £767,550

£350,000

£200,000

£810,000

£500,000

£1,200,000

£385,000

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

          
 
 
 

Report Number  OS/20/07 
 
 

 
To:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee    
Date:  8th September 2020 
Status:  Key Decision 
Responsible Officer: Andy Blaszkowicz, Director- Housing and Operations 
Cabinet Member: Councillor David Godfrey, Cabinet Member for Housing, 

Transport and Special Projects  
 
SUBJECT:  Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Civil Penalties 

Policy 
 
SUMMARY:  
 
This report sets out details of the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy and 
methodology and principles for determining the level of penalty charge for housing 
offences.  It is proposed that the policy will be made available for an eight week 
consultation period before being presented to Cabinet.  
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

1) The council uses a wide range of statutory powers to ensure that those responsible 
for residential premises take the actions needed to prevent harm from occurring to 
occupants and visitors.  For fairness and transparency, it is important that the 
council sets out how it conducts itself by publishing an enforcement policy. This is 
a requirement of the Enforcement Concordat and the Regulators’ Code. 
 

2) Section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 amended the 
Housing Act 2004 to allow financial penalties to be imposed by local housing 
authorities as an alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences.  Financial 
penalties of up to £30,000 may be imposed under section 249A of the Housing Act 
2004. Local housing authorities are required to develop and document a policy 
which sets out when it should prosecute and when it should impose a financial 
penalty, and the level of financial penalty it should impose in each case. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
1. To receive and note report C/20/07. 
2. Overview and Scrutiny are invited to comment on the draft Private Sector 

Housing Policy and civil penalties policy. 
 
 
 

This Report will be made 
public on 28 August 2020 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



 
1.0 BACKGROUND  

 
1.1 The Council’s current Corporate Enforcement Policy is a document which is 

overarching and covers the general principles of enforcement for all of the teams 
who have enforcement duties.  The current policy will still be relevant to the PSH 
team.  However, a more detailed policy for PSH enforcement is required in order to 
set out how we will deal with criminal landlords and to describe the new types of 
housing enforcement powers and duties we have been given since the publication 
of the general policy.   
 

1.2 The Housing & Planning Act 2016 has brought in more powers and duties to enable 
us to tackle what the government term “Rogue Landlords”.  This includes the power 
to charge civil penalties as an alternative to prosecution. Since this Act came into 
force, further regulations have been made and in view of these changes we now 
need to review our enforcement policy to ensure it is fully fit for purpose. 

 

1.3 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Statement of Principles in Appendix 2 was 
approved by the Council in 2016 and it is proposed that no changes are made to 
this statement of principles but that it is brought into the full policy document as an 
appendix. The levels of fines for offences under these regulations are set by the 
government and we only have the discretion to charge a reduced penalty where we 
feel it is appropriate to do so.  The framework was formulated in consultation with 
all of the other Kent Local authorities in order to provide consistency across Kent. 

 

1.4 The penalties imposed for breaching the minimum energy efficiency standards 
(which fully came into force in April 2020) are set at a statutory maximum but with 
leniency built in for first time offenders and those who pay the fine early (see 
Appendix 3 in the policy).  These again were devised after consultation with all Kent 
Local Authorities and follow the consensus in order to provide consistency for the 
landlords who have multiple district property portfolios. 
 

1.5 The Electrical Safety Regulations come into force in July 2020 for new specified 
tenancies and April 2021 for all existing specified tenancies.  It will be an offence to 
let a property that does not have a satisfactory electrical safety certificate in place.  
The government have given guidance on setting penalties for offences under these 
regulations and suggest the use of the civil penalties policies for other specified 
housing offences.  It is therefore proposed that the council will determine the level 
of fine for these offences using the proposed civil penalty policy at Annex 1 to the 
Enforcement Policy.  

 

1.6 As determined by the legislation, the income received from any penalty charges 
imposed must be ring-fenced for housing enforcement activities only.   
 

Page 40



1.7 The main message of the Enforcement Policy is that enforcement is the last resort.  
The PSH team take pride in engaging with landlords in a positive way and achieving 
remedial works through informal dialogue and building good working relationships.  
The number of properties improved in recent years is testament to this approach 
being successful.  In 2019/20 the PSH team improved 199 homes through liaising 
and negotiating with landlords. Since 2016 we have only taken one prosecution and 
have two prosecutions pending. The policy sets out the enforcement measures we 
will use where necessary to tackle criminal (“rogue”) landlords.  

 
1.8 The civil penalties policy at Annex 1 is similar to several other Kent Local Authorities’ 

Policies in order to provide consistency across the county and to ensure that we 
adopt best practice. 

 
2.0 The Proposed Way Forward 
 
2.1 It proposed that the draft policy be made available for an eight week consultation 

period. Following this, the document will be presented to Cabinet along with a 
summary of the consultation feedback. 

 
3.0    LEGAL/FINANCIAL AND OTHER CONTROLS/POLICY MATTERS 
 
3.1 Legal Officer’s Comments (NE) 
 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a new financial penalty regime 

which took effect from 6 April 2017.  This enables the Council to impose a civil 

penalty up to £30,000. 

The legal basis for these powers is contained in section 126 and Schedule 9 of the 

Housing and Planning Act 2016, which allows financial penalties to be given as an 

alternative to prosecution. 

The maximum penalty is £30,000.  The amount of penalty is to be determined by 

the local housing authority in each case.  In determining an appropriate level of 

penalty, local housing authorities should have regard to:- 

 Severity of the offence; 

 Culpability and track record of the offender; 

 The harm caused to the tenant; 

 Punishment of the offender; 

 Deter the offender from repeating the offence; 

 Deter others from committing similar offences; 

 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a 
result of committing the offence. 
 

The procedure for imposing a civil penalty is set out at Schedule 13A of the Housing 

Act 2004. 

A civil penalty can be imposed as an alternative to prosecution.  The legislation 

does not permit local authorities to impose a civil penalty and prosecute for the 

same offence. 

Page 41



A civil penalty can be issued as an alternative to prosecution for each separate 

breach of the House in Multiple Occupation Management Regulations. 

When looking at imposing a civil penalty the council must have in mind the same 

criminal standard of proof is required as for prosecution.  Therefore, the council 

must satisfy itself that if the case were to be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Court, 

there would be a realistic prospect of conviction. 

Local authorities are expected to develop and document their own policy on when 

to prosecute and when to issue a civil penalty and should decide which option it 

wishes to pursue on a case-by-case basis in line with that policy. 

Failure to have an up to date Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy is likely to 

attract criticism and have an adverse effect on the reputation of the Council.  

3.2 Finance Officer’s Comments (SB) 

As stated at item 1.7, the main message of the report is that enforcement is the last 

resort; positive engagement and dialogue with landlords is the most effective way 

of maintaining adherence to the regulations. However, the updated penalty charge 

schedule and enforcement powers for the PSH officers will hopefully be a further 

deterrent for landlords that fail to meet the required housing standards. Currently 

prosecutions are rare, therefore increased penalty charge income, which should be 

ring-fenced for housing enforcement activities only, may not be of significant value 

in the immediate future. For future budget preparation exercises estimated income 

will need to be considered and the revised penalty charges added to the published 

Fees and Charges schedule. 

3.3 Diversities and Equalities Implications (AH)  

Persons from vulnerable groups can sometimes have limited housing choices. In 

particular, families with young children, older persons and those with a disability can 

find themselves in poor quality privately rented accommodation. Consequently, the 

council’s enforcement activities often involves safeguarding the health, safety and 

welfare of persons with the protected characteristics of age and disability. 

Therefore, the enhanced enforcement capabilities provided by financial penalties 

will help to minimise disadvantage and contribute to the needs of many residents 

with protected characteristics.  

4.     CONTACT OFFICERS AND BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
  
 Councillors with any questions arising out of this report should contact the following 

officers prior to the meeting: 
 
 Adrian Hammond 
         Lead Housing Specialist    
 adrian.hammond@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 
 Tel: 01303 853392 
 
 Kerry Petts 
 Private Sector Housing Team Leader 
 Kerry.petts@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 
 Tel: 01303 853520 

Page 42

mailto:adrian.hammond@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk
mailto:Kerry.petts@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk


 The following background documents have been relied upon in the preparation of 
this report:  

 
 Appendices 
  

Appendix 1: The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (including the Civil 

Penalties Policy) 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 
 
 

 

Folkestone and Hythe District Council 
 

Private Sector Housing  
Enforcement Policy  

 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 45



 

1  

 

Contents         Page No. 
 

1.0  Introduction                  2
   

2.0            The Team’s Objectives                2
  

3.0  Powers and duties                         3 
 
4.0  Eligibility for service                 4 
 

      5.0 Investigation of complaints and proactive work             5 
 
6.0 Our general approach to enforcement              6 
 
7.0 Enforcement concordat and regulator’s compliance code 8 
 
8.0 Types of action and when appropriate to take action             8 
 
9.0 HMOs and HMO licensing                       14 
 
10.0 Empty Homes                18 
 
11.0 Publicity of enforcement             20    

 
12.0 Covid 19 working practises        20 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 – List of Hazards (HHSRS)                        22 
 
Appendix 2 - Statement of principles for determining financial penalties for 
breaches of the Smoke and Carbon monoxide regulations            23
  
 
Appendix 3 - Penalties Policy for non-compliance with the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards        28 
 
Annex 1 – Civil Penalties Policy       30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 2 

 
 
 
1.0  Introduction 
 

1.1 The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy contains information 
on how the enforcement tools, provided by the Housing Act 2004, the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 and other general legislation, can be 
used fairly and consistently to achieve improvement to housing, health 
and the environment within the District.  

 
1.2 The primary function of the Private Sector Housing (PSH) Team is to 

protect the health and safety of residents within the district through 
ensuring that they have safe and decent housing to live in. 

 
1.3 Enforcement means action carried out in the exercise of statutory 

powers or duties.  This is not limited to formal enforcement action such 
as prosecution or the issue of notices, but includes inspecting premises 
for the purpose of checking compliance with regulations and the 
provision of advice to aid compliance.   

 
1.4 We recognise that most people and most businesses want to comply 

with the law.  We will therefore take care to help them meet their 
obligations by giving advice in the first instance where possible. 

 

2.0 The Team’s objectives 
  

 To monitor and improve standards and reduce the risks to health and 
safety within homes in the Private Sector. 

 

 To improve energy efficiency in the home and help to tackle fuel 
poverty. 

 

 To help bring empty homes back into use. 
 

 To license Houses in Multiple Occupation under the mandatory HMO 
licensing scheme. 

 

 To work closely with private sector landlords to help them achieve and 
maintain good standards within private rented accommodation. 

 

 To assist and take enforcement action where necessary in the 
cleansing and clearing of filthy and/or verminous residential premises.  
 

 To ensure that residential properties are compliant with fire safety 
legislation and provide adequate protection and warning in the event of 
a fire. 

 
 

Page 47



 3 

3.0  Powers and duties 
 
3.1 The principle pieces of legislation used by the Private Sector Housing 

team are the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 
2016. However, there are circumstances where other pieces of 
legislation may be more appropriate in dealing with the problem.  In 
some cases, a combination of the enforcement tools are used. Also 
over the last 5 years or so there have been many specific regulations 
covering specific aspects such as smoke and carbon monoxide alarms, 
electrical safety, and energy efficiency.   

 
3.2 The officers of the Private Sector Housing Team are authorised to 

exercise executive functions through delegation in accordance with the 
Council’s constitution.  Each officer’s delegation of powers can be 
viewed upon request. Delegation level is in accordance with 
qualifications and levels of experience of each officer. 

 
3.3 Section 239 of the Housing Act 2004 states that a person authorised by 

the local authority may enter the premises in question at any 
reasonable time, for the purpose of carrying out a survey or 
examination of the premises.  Before entering the premises in exercise 
of this power, the authorised person must give at least 24 hours notice 
of his intention to do so, to the owner (if known) and the occupier (if 
any).  No inspection will take place without reason. Each officer within 
the team is authorised under section 239. 

 
3.4 Where the Council needs to enter a property for the purpose of 

ascertaining whether an offence has been committed in relation to 
HMO  licensing or HMO management, prior notice of entry does not 
need to be given. The Council can enter the property at any reasonable 
time. 

 
3.5 If access is refused or if the giving of prior notification would defeat the 
 purpose of entry the authorised officer can apply to the Justice of the 
 Peace for a warrant to enter.   
 
3.6 A person who obstructs a relevant person in the performance of their 

duties commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine 
not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale. 

 
3.7 The Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
 

The Housing Act 2004 prescribes the methodology by which a 
residential premises must be assessed.  This is called the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS).  The aim of the HHSRS is 
to identify deficiencies which may lead to a hazard.  Each hazard is 
assessed and given a score and band.  The bands determine whether 
it is a category 1 or category 2 hazard. There are 29 different types of 
hazard which can be assessed (a full list of these can be found in 
Appendix 1). 

Page 48



 4 

 
3.8 The Act places a mandatory duty on the Council to take action where 

category 1 hazards are present.  If category 2 hazards are identified, 
the Council has a discretionary power to take action to deal with these. 

 
4.0  Eligibility for service 
 
4.1 The following situations may lead the Council to withdraw the service 

or not  provide the service:  
 

 Where a complainant has not taken reasonable steps to resolve the 
problem prior to contacting the council.  e.g. liaising with their landlord. 

 

 Where service requests are anonymous.  
 

 Where tenants of their own free will move out of the property shortly 
after requesting service and before we can arrange a visit.  

 

 Where tenants unreasonably or repeatedly fail to allow entry to the 
council’s staff, the landlord, landlord’s agent or builder, making it 
difficult to arrange or carry out the required works. 

 
4.2 Service requests will receive a response within an appropriate 

timescale but the council’s involvement will not automatically lead to 
legal proceedings.  

 
4.3 Due to levels of service requests being extremely high, the PSH team 

operate a waiting list system.  All non-urgent enquiries (i.e. situations 
that are not likely to cause immediate risk of serious harm) will be given 
a priority level and the service request will be placed on a waiting list.  
Priority is given based on seriousness of potential health effects of 
deficiencies reported.  The customer will receive a letter explaining that 
there is a waiting list and that they will be expected to wait for their 
complaint to be investigated further.  They will be encouraged to try 
and resolve the issues themselves by liaising with their landlord in the 
meantime. Any services requests deemed to be imminently dangerous 
will be visited within 24 hours. 

 
4.4 Service requests from Leaseholders 
 

The PSH team often receive complaints from leaseholders requesting 
assistance in taking action against other leaseholders or freeholders.  
PSH team assistance will be limited to; 

 

 Contraventions of the Management Regulations (this may necessitate 
action being taken against the leaseholder themselves). 

 

 Category 1 and high category 2 hazards where the leasehold flat is 
tenanted. 

 

Page 49



 5 

 Statutory nuisances (as defined by the Environmental Protection Act 
1990). 
 

 Lack of or defective means of escape in case of fire or fire precautions 
in certain types of building. 

 
4.5 In all other situations the leaseholder will be re-directed to the 

Leasehold Advisory Service info@lease-advice.org.uk or to contact a 
solicitor who  specialises in leasehold law. 

 
5.0 Investigation of complaints and proactive work 
 
5.1 When a member of the public makes a complaint about the conditions 

within  their property, an officer from the PSH team will react to the 
complaint by  visiting and carrying out an inspection.  This may or may 
not result in any of the types of action set out in section 8 below. 

 
5.2 The PSH Team carry out proactive work alongside reacting to 

complaints.  This includes Temporary accommodation inspections (for 
the Housing Options Team), Immigration inspections (for which we 
charge a fee), planned multi-agency action days, targeted energy 
efficiency work, proactive project work through dataset interrogation 
and the Landlord Forum events run jointly with Dover District Council or 
the Folkestone & Hythe Housing Options Team. The team also give 
advice to landlords about all aspects of complying with housing 
standards and managing their properties. 

 
5.3 Temporary Accommodation Inspections 
 

The Housing Options Team lease properties from private landlords to 
provide temporary accommodation to homeless people.  Where a 
tenant is due to move into a privately rented property an HHSRS 
trained member of the Housing Options Team will initially visit and 
assess the property.  If hazards are identified which need a second 
opinion or further action to be taken the PSH team will then carry out 
an inspection.   

 
5.4 The tenant would not be prevented from moving in to the property 

unless the hazards would cause an imminent risk of serious harm. 
 
5.5 The landlord will be required to remedy any deficiencies which cause 

category 1 and/or high category 2 hazards.  If the landlord fails to do 
this within a reasonable period of time, an enforcement notice may be 
served. 

 
5.6 Immigration inspections 
 

The Private Sector Housing team offer a service (chargeable by fee) to 
persons wishing to sponsor a person from another country to come and 
stay in the United Kingdom.  As part of the visa application, the High 

Page 50

mailto:info@lease-advice.org.uk


 6 

Commission Office require a letter or report from the Local Housing 
Authority to confirm that the accommodation the applicant wishes to 
stay in is suitable for the number of persons living there and that it is 
free from hazards. 

 
5.7 Any hazards found within the property would need to be remedied 

before a report can be issued to the visa applicant.  This would involve 
contacting the owner of the property and asking for remedial works to 
be carried out.  Enforcement notices may therefore be served if the 
responsible person fails to carry out the required remedial works. 

 
5.8 Planned Multi-Agency Action Days 
 

From time to time the PSH team will take part in planned and targeted 
multi- agency action days.  Other agencies likely to be taking part 
would include the Kent Fire and Rescue Service, Kent Police, UK 
Border Agency, Trading Standards, Environmental Health, the 
Planning Enforcement Team, Housing Benefits Fraud Investigation, 
and other Community Safety Unit partners. 

 
5.9 Any street or area targeted would be chosen because of an 

accumulation of intelligence from the relevant partners, which would 
suggest particular concentrations of problems in that area.  For 
example this may relate to poor housing conditions, street cleansing 
issues, unusually high incidences of fire  in a concentrated area, anti-
social behaviour or high levels of crime.   

 
5.10 The operation would consist of officers from each partner agency 

visiting door to door in a team in the specified area and where access 
is allowed, inspecting the  premises and talking to the occupants to 
offer assistance and give advice where necessary.  The PSH team can 
offer advice on housing problems and investigate any deficiencies 
through the normal procedure at a later date.  Information gathered 
during these exercises can be used to inform where the PSH team 
need to target their resources and re-visits can be scheduled 
accordingly where assistance is required. If any category 1 hazards 
presenting an imminent risk of serious harm are found during an action 
day, emergency enforcement powers may be used on that day. 

 
5.11 Landlord Forums 
 

The team organises a Landlord Forum in conjunction with Dover 
District Council and Landlord Associations, which is held at Dover or 
Folkestone & Hythe offices on an alternating basis.  The meetings are 
designed to give landlords information and raise awareness of 
important or new issues, by inviting guest speakers from various 
organisations and setting up stalls with posters and leaflets to give 
further information and advice. The PSH team also give support to the 
Housing Option Team’s landlord events. 

 

Page 51



 7 

6.0  Our General Approach to Enforcement  
 
6.1 We commit to good principles of enforcement which are in compliance 

with the statutory powers and all other relevant legislation including the 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, the Criminal Procedure and 
Investigations Act 1996, the Human Rights Act 1998, the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 2018 and in 
accordance with any formal procedures and codes of practice made 
under the legislation in so far as they relate to our enforcement powers 
and responsibility. 

 
6.2 The Council regards enforcement as encompassing all the actions that 

can be taken to achieve compliance with a statutory requirement. It has 
a staged approach to enforcement wherever possible to ensure 
solutions are initially sought through education, co-operation and 
agreement. Where this is not successful there will be cases where 
formal action will be necessary, which may ultimately lead to 
prosecution, penalty charges or other summary action.   

 
6.3 PSH officers take a consistent approach to enforcement and only 

deviate from standard procedures where there is good reason.   
 
6.4 It is important that property owners feel able to seek our advice and 
 assistance without fear of inviting unnecessary or unwarranted 
 enforcement action against themselves.  
 
6.5 However, there may be circumstances, such as when there is an 

imminent risk to health, in which it may be necessary to take formal 
action in the first instance. 

 
6.6 To avoid our resources being wasted on action that no one wants or 

needs us to take, we will only progress a case beyond the informal 
stage  where there is clear benefit to the occupier or to neighbouring 
occupiers or  to the public at large in doing so.  

 
6.7 We will only take prosecutions in cases or serve financial penalties 

where it is in the public interest to do so and in accordance with the 
associated guidance and policies. We ensure that we have regard to 
the anticipated effects of the resulting publicity.  

 
6.8 Works will only be required to be carried out if the cost and disruption 

caused by carrying out the works is in proportion to the harm arising 
from the hazard.  

 
6.9 Before considering taking any action in tenanted properties, we will 

usually require the tenant to have contacted their Landlord. This 
applies to both private and housing association tenants. Legislation 
covering landlord and tenant issues requires that tenants notify their 
landlords of any problems with the property. Landlords can only carry 

Page 52



 8 

out their repairing obligations once they are made aware of any 
problems. Any copies of correspondence between the tenant and 
landlord should be provided to officers upon request.  

 
6.10 Tenants will be expected to keep officers informed of any contact they 

have with their landlord (or landlords agent, builder etc) that may have 
an effect on what action the Council takes.  

 
7.0  Enforcement Concordat and the Regulator’s Compliance Code 
 
7.1 The Council is signed up to the Enforcement Concordat and in general 

any enforcement action will be taken in line with the concordat 
document. The main principles of the concordat are openness, 
proportionality and consistency.  

 
7.2 This enforcement policy helps to promote efficient and effective 

approaches to regulatory inspection and enforcement, which improve 
regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens. This is in 
accordance with the Regulator’s Compliance Code.  In certain 
instances, we may conclude that a provision in the code is either not 
relevant or is outweighed by another provision.  The Council will ensure 
that a decision to depart from the code will be properly reasoned, 
documented and based on material evidence. 

 
8.0  Types of action and when appropriate to take action  
 
8.1 In general, the following types of action will be taken, but any action 

taken will always depend on the circumstances of the individual case. 
The person  requesting our help will be informed when our 
involvement has been concluded and given the reason(s) for this. 

 

Action Circumstance 

No action Complaints or allegations of housing 
conditions or statutory nuisances are 
unsubstantiated. 
Formal action is inappropriate in the 
circumstances. 

Verbal advice There is insufficient evidence of 
breaches of legislation. 
Immediate action is taken by the 
responsible person to comply with 
failures. 

Informal letter There is insufficient evidence of 
breaches of legislation. 
Immediate action is taken by the 
responsible person to comply with 
failures. 
Past history of dealing with the 
relevant parties allows confidence 
that informal action will achieve 

Page 53



 9 

compliance. 
Conditions are not serious enough to 
justify formal action straight away. 
To notify the responsible person that 
action is required prior to taking 
formal action. 

Formal notices There are significant failures of 
statutory requirements. 
There is a lack of confidence in the 
individual or management particularly 
in the willingness to respond to an 
informal approach. 
There is obstruction or assault. 
There is a history of non-compliance 
or informal action has not secured 
compliance. 
The Council is required to serve a 
statutory notice. 
The defect presents an imminent risk 
to health. 

Works in Default – 
Emergency remedial action 
 

There is an imminent risk to health 
and safety to the public. 
Prosecution would not adequately 
protect the public interest. 
The responsible person is unable or 
unwilling to take remedial action 
immediately. 

Works in Default – non 
compliance 
with a notice 
 

The Council may choose to carry out 
works required by a notice if they 
have not been completed within the 
permitted time. 
This may be taken in conjunction with 
or followed by a prosecution. 

Revocation of HMO licences 
 

Licence holder or Manager is no 
longer a ‘fit and proper person’. 
The premises concerned ceases to 
be an HMO. 

Formal Caution A formal caution will be considered 
for less serious offences where to 
person committing the offence agrees 
to accept a caution. 

Prosecution There is sufficient and reliable 
evidence that an offence has been 
committed. 
There is a realistic prospect of 
conviction and the prosecution is in 
the public interest. 

Rent Repayment Orders Made by the first tier tribunal and 
grant to either tenant or local authority 
(where benefits have been used to 

Page 54



 10 

pay rent).    
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 
extended the range of offences that 
these can be awarded for. 

Proceeds of Crime Power under the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 will be considered in 
appropriate cases with the Head of 
Legal and the relevant Director 

Civil Penalties Annex 1 to this policy sets out the 
decision making process regarding 
whether to use a civil penalty and at 
what level it should be charged 

Penalty Charge Notices  The Redress Schemes for letting 
agency work and property 
management work (requirement to 
belong to a scheme 
etc.)(England)Order 2014 – the 
penalty charge for non-compliance 
will normally be £5,000 but on 
representation this charge may be 
reduced or even quashed. 
 
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide 
(England) Regulations 2015 – penalty 
charges of up to £5,000 for non-
compliance – see the council’s 
Statement of principles on charging 
contained within Appendix 2 Policy. 
 
The Minimum energy Efficiency 
Standards Regulations – penalty 
charges of up to £5000.  See 
appendix 3. 

Banning Orders The council may apply for a banning 
order at first tier tribunal. 
A list of Banning Order offences can 
be found in the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 (Banning Order) 
Regulations 2018. 

Rogue Landlord Database The council can enter details of 
landlords considered to be “rogue” 
onto the government database. It is 
available to all Local Authorities to 
enable them to share information 
about criminal landlords who operate 
in multiple areas.  

 
8.2 Where formal action is required officers will provide; 
 

Page 55



 11 

• Clear information and advice to all relevant parties about the reasons 
for the type of action chosen (for Housing Act formal enforcement, this 
will be in the form of a section 8 statement accompanying the notice). 

 
• Ensure an opportunity is given to discuss what is required before    
formal action is taken (unless urgent action is required). 

 
• Advise the relevant parties of the named officer responsible for 
dealing with  their case. 

 
• Give a written explanation of any rights of appeal at the time the 
notice is served. 

 
• Notify the relevant parties about any financial charge that the Council    
may apply and seek to recover the charge as part of the enforcement 
process. 

 
8.3 Types of Enforcement Notices 
 
 Action which can be taken under the Housing Act 2004 includes:- 
 
8.3.1 Hazard Awareness Notice – This is used when a hazard has been 

identified but is not necessarily serious enough to take formal action.  It 
is a way of drawing attention to the need for remedial action.  The 
notice cannot be enforced or appealed against. 

 
8.3.2 Improvement Notice – This is used where reasonable remedial works 
  for a specified period of time or until a specified event occurs. 
 
8.3.3 Prohibition Order – This may prohibit the use of part or all of the 

premises for some or all purposes or for occupation by a particular 
number or description of people.  This type of action may be 
appropriate where remedial action is unreasonable or impractical.  It 
can also be used to limit the number of people occupying a dwelling or 
prohibit the use of the premises by specific groups (e.g. children or the 
elderly).  This can be suspended for a specified period of time or until a 
specified event occurs. 

 
8.3.4 Emergency Prohibition Order – this type of action is only used where 

there  is at least one category 1 hazard which presents an imminent 
risk of serious harm and where it is not practical to carry out remedial 
works.  It can prohibit the use of all or part of the property with 
immediate effect. 

 
8.3.5 Emergency Remedial Action – this type of action is only used where 

there  is a category 1 hazard which is an imminent risk of causing of 
serious harm.  The remedial works to eliminate the immediate risk will 
be carried out by the Council and the cost of the works will be 
recovered from the responsible person.  Emergency remedial works 
will only be carried out once all attempts to contact the responsible 

Page 56



 12 

person have failed or when the responsible person fails to respond 
immediately. 

 
8.3.6 Demolition Order – this can only be served where category 1 hazards 

exist  (but not for listed buildings).  When deciding whether to use this 
type of action the views of all interested parties, the availability of 
accommodation, and the  possible use of the cleared site must be 
taken into account. 

 
8.3.7 Clearance Area – All of the residential buildings within a declared 

clearance area must have at least one category 1 hazard. The 
availability of the accommodation and the potential use of the cleared 
site must be considered. 

 
8.4 Other legislation 
 

The PSH team can use various other pieces of legislation if the 
Housing Act  2004 is not appropriate or does not sufficiently deal with 
the problem.  This  includes:- 

 
8.4.1 Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Notices can be served under 

section 80 if there is a statutory nuisance at the premises. The 
premises must be deemed prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 
8.4.2 Building Act 1984 – There are a few provisions under this act, which 
 include:- 
 

 Section 59/60 can be used to deal with defective drainage  
              

 Section 64/65 is used where sanitary conveniences are 
insufficient or are in need of replacement and are considered to 
be prejudicial to health or a nuisance 

 

 Section 76 can be used where the property is so defective as to 
be prejudicial to health.  This notice tells the responsible person 
of the Council’s intention to remedy the problem (like works in 
default). 

 
8.4.3 Public Health Act 1936  
 

 Section 45 is used where there are defective sanitary 
conveniences due to repair and/or cleansing ability.  They must 
be in such a state as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 

 Section 84 is used to cleanse and disinfect a property and 
remove and destroy vermin. 

 
8.4.4 Public Health Act 1961 – section 17 can be used to repair any drain, 

private sewer, water closet, waste pipe or soil pipe (where the cost of 
works in default are £250 or less). 

Page 57



 13 

 
8.4.5 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 

 Section 16 is used to formally request information about a 
property and who are the interested parties. 

 

 Section 33 can be used to re-instate service supplies (such as 
water, electricity or gas) where they have been disconnected in 
a domestic property. 

 
8.4.6 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 – section 4 can be used to 
 deal with harbourage of pests 

8.4.7 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2015 – this means that, since 1 April 2018, private 
landlords may not let domestic properties on new tenancies to new or 
existing tenants if the Energy Efficiency Certificate (EPC) rating is F or 
G (unless an exemption applies). 

 From 1 April 2020 the prohibition on letting F and G properties 
will extend to all relevant properties, even where there has been 
no change in tenancy. 

 If a local authority believes a landlord has failed to fulfil their 
obligations under the MEES Regulations, they can serve the 
landlord with a compliance notice. If a breach is confirmed, the 
landlord may receive a financial penalty.  See Appendix 3 for 
more details of levels of penalty likely to be imposed. 

 
8.4.8 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

– there is a penalty charge of up to £5,000 for not having a smoke 
alarm on every level of a premises used as a private rented dwelling 
and for not having a Carbon monoxide alarm fitted in rented dwellings 
where there are solid fuel appliances.  The council has published a 
statement of principles regarding its fine structure.  See Appendix 2 for 
more details.   
 

8.4.9 The Redress Schemes for letting agency work and property 
management work (requirement to belong to a scheme etc.) (England) 
Order 2014 – the penalty charge for non-compliance will normally be 
£5,000 but on representation this charge may be reduced or even 
quashed.  This decision would be made in consultation with the 
council’s legal team and the relevant director. 
 

8.5 The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 – from 1 July 2020, all new private tenancies in 
England will need to ensure that electrical installations are 
inspected and tested by a qualified person before the tenancy 
begins. The landlord will then need to ensure that the installation is 
inspected and tested at least every five years – and more often if 
the most recent safety report requires it.  

Page 58



 14 

 

 For existing tenancies, an electrical safety test will need to 
be carried out by 1 April 2021, with regular tests following 
this as outlined above.  
 

 Local authorities can impose a financial penalty of up to 
£30,000 for a breach of the regulations. The existing 
financial penalties policy at Annex 1 will be used to 
determine the level of penalty. 

 
9.0  HMOs and HMO licensing 
 
9.1 What is an HMO? 
 

In order to determine whether a property is an HMO, the following four 
tests must be applied. 

 

 The Standard Test – Any building which consists of one or 
more units of accommodation which are not self-contained and 
where two or more households share one or more basic 
amenities, or where the accommodation is lacking basic 
amenities. 

 

 The Self-contained flat Test – Any part of a building which is a 
self-contained flat, which consists of one or more units of 
accommodation, in which two or more households share one or 
more basic amenities or where the accommodation is lacking in 
basic amenities. 

 

 The Converted Building Test – Any building which has been 
converted and contains one or more units of accommodation, 
which are not self-contained (whether or not the building also 
consists of some self-contained units). 

 

 Certain converted Blocks of Flats – Any building which has 
been converted and consists of self-contained flats only, and it 
does not comply with appropriate building standards (e.g. 
Building Regulations 1991) and less than two thirds of the flats 
are owner-occupied (i.e. more than one third are on short 
tenancies). 

 
9.2 HMOs requiring a Mandatory licence 
 

From 1st October 2018 HMO licences are required for all HMOs of any 
storey height that are occupied by five or more persons, who form two 
or more households and share facilities (such as kitchens, living rooms 
and bathrooms). 
 
OR 
 

Page 59



 15 

Purpose built flats where there are up to two flats in the block and one 
or both of the flats are occupied by 5 or more persons in 2 or more 
separate households. This will apply regardless of whether the block is 
above or below commercial premises. This will bring certain flats above 
shops on high streets within mandatory licensing as well as small 
blocks of flats which are not connected to commercial premises. 

 
9.3 Exemptions 
 

 Any properties managed by a public sector body 
 

 Student accommodation which is managed or controlled by 
an educational establishment 

 

 Buildings occupied by religious communities 
 

 Buildings occupied by owners (long leaseholders or 
freeholders) 

 

 Buildings occupied by two persons (who form two 
households) 

 
 
9.5 The property will be inspected fully at some time within the five year 

licence period. This may be carried out during the licence application 
processing stage (if a visit is necessary to verify certain details).  
Otherwise the visit will be carried out as and when resources allow, 
within the five year period. 

 
9.6 Penalties 
 

 A person commits an offence if he manages or is in control of an 
HMO which should be licensed but does not have one or if he 
allows the property to be occupied by more than the agreed 
number of households or persons authorised in the licence 
conditions.  Prosecution can result in unlimited fines and court 
costs or instead of prosecuting, the council can issue penalty 
charges of up to £30,000. 

 

 Rent re-payment orders – if a person has committed the offence 
of operating as an HMO without having an HMO licence, the 
Council or the tenants can apply for a rent repayment order.  
The First Tier tribunal (FTT) can award the order, which requires 
the appropriate person to repay all rents, periodical payments 
and housing benefits for the period up to a licence being issued.  
The order would state the amount to be repaid. 

 

 Termination of Tenancies – Landlords will not be able to issue 
any section 21 notices under the Housing Act 1988 (termination 

Page 60



 16 

of a shorthold tenancy and possession of the property), whilst a 
licensable HMO is unlicensed. 
 

9.7 Licence Fees and review of fees 
 

Folkestone and Hythe District Council has determined the fees for 
HMO licence applications in accordance with Section 63(3) of the Act.  
The fees have been set taking into account the level of work required 
by an officer to process the licence application. The fees will be 
reviewed annually to reflect any rise in costs incurred in this process. 

 
9.8       Selective and Additional licensing 
  

The Council may introduce Selective or Additional Licensing Schemes 
if there is a need to deal with a specific problem area, low housing 
demand, poor housing conditions or anti-social behaviour.  

  
9.9 HMO Management Regulations 
 

The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) 
Regulations 2006 place certain duties on the manager and occupiers of 
all kinds of HMO with the exception of ‘Certain converted blocks of 
flats’ otherwise known as ‘Section 257 HMOs’ (section 257 Housing 
Act 2004 defines certain converted blocks of flats). 

 
9.10 The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007 place similar duties 
as in the above mentioned management regulations on the managers 
and occupiers of ‘certain converted blocks of flats’ (257 HMOs). 

 
9.11 Penalties 
 

A person who fails to comply with these Regulations commits an 
offence under section 234(3) of the Act, punishable by unlimited fine or 
a penalty charge of up to £30,000. 

 
9.12 Where an offence is suspected in an HMO, the PSH officer will bring 

the Management Regulations and their suspected breach to the 
attention of the responsible persons first.  If an opportunity to comply 
has not been actively taken by the responsible person and the failure 
continues, a prosecution case will be taken or penalty charge will be 
issued, as the responsible person would then be knowingly 
contravening these regulations. 

 
9.13 Folkestone and Hythe District HMO Amenity Guidelines 
 

The Council has a set of guidelines for amenity standards in HMOs.  
These set out what is expected in relation to the number and 
positioning of kitchens and bathrooms, the sizing of bedrooms, bed-
sitting areas and living areas, guidance on testing of electrical and gas 

Page 61



 17 

installations, furniture safety and fire precautions.  These guidelines are 
reviewed at appropriate intervals. Owners of HMOs should have regard 
to these guidelines, copies of which can be obtained from the PSH 
team. 

 
9.14 Fire safety in HMOs and the Fire Safety Protocol 
 

The Housing Act 2004 (Section 10) places a duty on Councils to 
consult with the Local Fire Authority where they intend to take action to 
remedy a fire safety hazard found in any HMO or common parts of a 
building containing one or more flats. 
 

9.15 The PSH team have developed a close working relationship with the 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service’s (KFRS) Fire Safety Officers.  A 
working protocol is in place to ensure that both the KFRS and PSH 
team are aware of who should take the lead within specified properties.   

 
9.16 The introduction of the Housing Act 2004 (the PSH team’s primary 

piece of legislation) and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 (KFRS primary legislation) imposed similar duties on the two 
statutory authorities to enforce certain fire safety provisions within 
housing.  The protocol helps to promote efficient use of resources, 
identify specific areas for inspection and enforcement and allow for 
appropriate monitoring and reviewing arrangements.  It also provides 
for urgent or complex requests for assistance from either party. 
 

9.17 Fire safety guidance 
 

Both the PSH team and KFRS refer to the LACORS (Local Authorities 
Co-ordinators of Regulatory Services) guidance document on fire 
precautions called ‘Housing – Fire Safety, Guidance on fire safety 
provisions for certain types of existing housing’ which was published in 
July 2008.  This guidance can be used by landlords to help them 
understand what is required in relation to fire safety risk assessment in 
their properties. 

 
9.18 When an officer from the PSH team is considering what advice to give 

or action to take in relation to a fire hazard within an HMO (or a single 
dwelling), they will always refer to this document for guidance (or any 
guidance written to supersede this document in future).  The officer will 
only deviate from the recommended guidance where there is a sound 
reason for doing so and in agreement with a fire safety officer and the 
PSH team leader. 

 
10.0  Empty Homes 
 
10.1 What is an Empty Home? 
 

A property which has been empty (un-occupied) for six months or more 
is considered to be a long term empty home.  Central government 

Page 62



 18 

encourages Councils to take action to bring empty homes back into 
use and use their powers under the Housing Act 2004 as well as other 
legislation to achieve this. 

 
10.2 Bringing empty properties back into use not only prevents the negative 

impact on the neighbourhood but also reduces the need to build more 
new homes.  The re-use of existing buildings is generally more 
environmentally sustainable than building new homes.  Bringing empty 
homes back into use can act as a catalyst for wider regeneration by 
building confidence in the housing market. 

 
10.3 How will the PSH team tackle empty homes? 
 
 The PSH team will identify properties within the district which are 

empty and take steps to bring them back into use. 
 
10.4 The Housing Act 2004 (section 237) allows the Council to use 

information provided for the purpose of Council Tax to identify 
properties that are registered as empty.  All processing of personal 
data will be in accordance with the Council’s data protection policy and 
the rights of data subjects contained in the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2018. 

 
10.5 An officer from the PSH team will contact the owners of empty 

properties and offer advice and support to those wishing to bring the 
property back into use.  Advice on any available government funded 
loans (Empty Homes Loans through the Kent wide ‘No Use Empty’ 
campaign) will be given where appropriate. 

 
10.9 If the owner does not want to bring the property back into use, 

enforcement action will be considered.  There are a range of powers 
that can be used, but these will only be used when all other avenues 
have been exhausted and for those properties which are dangerous 
and pose a threat to the public, or are most in need by those unable to 
access the housing market, or have the biggest impact of the 
surrounding neighbourhood.  The action taken will be proportional to 
the circumstances of each individual case and the extent and impact of 
empty homes in the district at the time. 

 
10.10 In addition to the standard powers under the Housing act 2004, the 

Council can take the following types of enforcement action:- 
 

 Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) – which 
enable the Council to take control of and manage a property 
which has been empty for some time. There are conditions 
which must apply before an EDMO can be sought. These 
include that the dwelling has been empty for at least six months, 
that there is no reasonable prospect of the dwelling becoming 
occupied in the near future, that there is a reasonable prospect 
of the dwelling becoming occupied once the EDMO is made and 

Page 63



 19 

that the Council has complied with its duties in seeking an 
EDMO.  Interim and Final EDMOs can be made by approval 
from the First–tier Tribunal.  Interim EDMOs are usually for a 
maximum of 12 months and Final EDMOs can be made for up to 
7 years. 

 
The Council would only consider making an EDMO as a last 
resort when all other actions have failed and after considering 
whether financial costs associated with maintaining the property 
can be recovered through the rent. A decision to apply for an 
EDMO would be taken through Cabinet first. 

 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 – 
Section 29 allows the Council to secure a property that is open 
to access 

 

 Buildings Act 1984 – Sections 77 and 78 require an owner to 
make a property safe or allow emergency action to make it safe  

 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 – section 215 enables 
the Council to take action to address unsightly external 
appearance of a property 

 

 Housing Act 1985 – Section 265 enables the Council to 
demolish a property that cannot be repaired (i.e. derelict 
properties) 

 

 Building Act 1984 - Section 79 enables the Council to take 
action to deal with ruinous and dilapidated buildings that 
unsightly in external appearance and are seriously detrimental 
to the amenity of the area. 

 

 Enforced sale procedure – the Council can force the sale of a 
property via auction to enable costs incurred during dealing with 
an empty property to be recovered.  When works are carried out 
in default of a notice a legal charge for the cost of the work is 
added to the title of the property (at Land Registry).  The Council 
can then make an application to the Land Registry to enforce 
the sale of the property under the Law of Property Act 1925. 

 

 Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs) – The Council has the 
power under the Housing Act 1985 to apply to compulsorily 
purchase empty homes.  This option may be pursued where 
owners are reluctant to take action to bring their property back 
into use, where an owner cannot be traced, or where a property 
has been empty for a long time and is causing a danger or 
nuisance to the public.  A compulsory purchase order will only 
be sought as a last resort or where other actions have failed.  
The CPO procedure is very lengthy especially if objections are 
received.  

Page 64



 20 

 
 
 
11.0  Publicity 

 
11.1 Publicity will normally be sought in the following cases:- 
 

• The offence is widespread in the area and coverage will assist in 
securing compliance by others 

 
 • To draw attention to particularly serious hazards 
 

• The offence is serious and/or was committed wilfully and the Council 
wishes to draw attention to their willingness to take a hard line in such 
cases 

 
 • Coverage is in the public interest 
 

• A press release will also be issued about convictions where it is 
considered  that publicity will bring in benefits by promoting 
compliance with those statutory requirements. 

 
12.0 Covid 19 working practises 
 
12.1 The government have produced guidance in relation to working 

practices during the covid 19 pandemic.  Although not termed as 
statutory guidance, the council will follow the advice contained within it 
or any amended version of it.  

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up
loads/attachment_data/file/888773/Guidance_for_local_authorities.pdf  
 
 

12.2 The guidance sets out how and when the council should conduct 
investigations and inspections and how to approach taking 
enforcement action when there is likely to be a shortage of contractors 
to carry out work or the occupants are not allowing access to the 
property due to their own health concerns or because they are self-
isolating or shielding. 

 
12.3 During covid 19 periods of lockdown, internal inspections will only be 

carried out where the reported issues are deemed to be imminently 
dangerous and would cause serious harm to the occupants.  Where 
possible, video calling or photographs taken by the tenant will be used 
to make an assessment instead.  Where internal inspections must take 
place, the occupants will be advised of the inspection procedure prior 
to the visit, and the occupants will be questioned on their state of 
health with regard to covid 19 at the point of making the appointment to 
visit and on the doorstep before entering the property.  If there are 
occupants within the household who have symptoms or who are self-
isolating due to being in contact with someone who has covid 19, the 

Page 65

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/888773/Guidance_for_local_authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/888773/Guidance_for_local_authorities.pdf


 21 

visit will be rearranged to a time after the self-isolation period has 
ended or video calling/photograph methods will be attempted instead. 
All staff will wear appropriate PPE and follow government covid 19 
guidance for visiting people’s homes. 

 
12.4 Enforcement action which is non-urgent or not legally required may be 

delayed until restrictions ease. Legal notices served under the Housing 
Act 2004 may, if the notice provides for this, be suspended for a period 
due to difficulties in completing the works. Work in default may be 
deferred. Other forms of enforcement action may be considered for the 
most serious hazards, e.g. a Prohibition Order covering part of a 
property may be used instead of Emergency Remedial Action. Steps 
may be taken to isolate or contain rather than remedy hazardous 
conditions  

 
12.5 We will work closely with landlords and tenants to ensure standards in 

rented properties are maintained. We may consider contacting 
landlords and using communications and marketing to emphasise the 
importance of keeping properties free from hazardous conditions, but 
also reassure them that a pragmatic, risk-based and common-sense 
approach will be used when enforcement decisions are taken. 
 
 

12.6 Electrical and Gas Safety - Both regulations are clear on the issue of 
compliance. With regards to the Electrical Safety Regulations, a 
landlord would not be in breach of the duty to comply with a remedial 
notice if the landlord can show they have taken all reasonable steps to 
comply. With regards to a landlord’s duties under the Gas Safety 
Regulations, a landlord would not be liable for an offence if the landlord 
can show they have taken all reasonable steps to prevent the 
contravention. A landlord could show reasonable steps by keeping 
copies of all communications they have had with their tenants and with 
electricians as they tried to arrange the work, including any replies they 
have had. Landlords may also want to provide other evidence they 
have that the installation, appliance or flue is in a good condition while 
they attempt to arrange works. This could include the servicing record 
and previous landlord gas safety check record. 
 

12.7 In regard to Mandatory HMO licensing we will contact landlords who 
are waiting for licences to be determined to explain potential delays.   
We will take individual landlords’ circumstances into account where 
licence fee payments may have been delayed due to the current 
situation. We will prioritise high-risk licensable properties if this is 
necessary to protect vulnerable tenants and target imminent risks to 
health. We will take a pragmatic and common-sense approach to 
enforcement action.  

 
 
 

 

Page 66



 22 

Appendix 1 - List of Hazards which can be assessed using the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 
 

1) Damp and Mould Growth 
2) Excess Cold 
3) Excess Heat 
4) Asbestos (and MMF) 
5) Biocides 
6) Carbon Monoxide and fuel combustion products 
7) Lead 
8) Radiation 
9) Uncombusted fuel gas 
10) Volatile Organic Compounds 
11) Crowding and Space 
12) Entry by Intruders 
13) Lighting 
14) Noise 
15) Domestic Hygiene, Pests and Refuse 
16) Food Safety 
17) Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage 
18) Water Supply 
19) Falls associated with baths  
20) Falls on level surfaces  
21) Falling on stairs  
22) Falling between levels 
23) Electrical Hazards 
24) Fire 
25) Flames and Hot Surfaces 
26) Collision and Entrapment 
27) Explosions 
28) Position and Operability of amenities 
29) Structural collapse and falling elements 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 23 

Appendix 2  
 
Statement of principles for determining financial penalties  
 
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015  

 
1.0  Introduction  
 
1.1 This statement sets out the principles that Shepway District Council 

(the Council) will apply in exercising its powers to require a relevant 
landlord (landlord) to pay a financial penalty. 

 
2.0  Purpose of the Statement of Principles  
 
2.1 The Council is required under these Regulations to prepare and 

publish a statement of principles and it must follow this guide when 
deciding on the amount of a penalty charge. 

 
2.2 The Council may revise its statement of principles at any time, but 

where it does so, it must publish a revised statement. 
 
2.3 When deciding on the amount for the penalty charge, the Council will 

have regard to the statement of principles published at the time when 
the breach in question occurred.  

 
3.0 The legal framework 
 
3.1 The powers come from the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

(England) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations), being a Statutory 
Instrument (2015 No 1693) which came into force on 1 October 2015.  

 
3.2 The Regulations place a duty on landlords, which include freeholders 

or leaseholders who have created a tenancy, lease, licence, sub-lease 
or sub-licence. The Regulations exclude registered providers of social 
housing. 

 
3.3 The duty requires that landlords ensure that: 
 

- a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of premises where there 
is living accommodation 

- a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room of a premises 
used as living accommodation, which contains a solid fuel burning 
appliance. 
 

AND for tenancies starting from 1 October 2015 
 

- that checks are made by the landlord, or someone acting on his 
behalf, that the alarm(s) is/are in proper working order on the day 
the tenancy starts.  

 

Page 68



 24 

3.4 Where the Council believes that a landlord is in breach of one or more 
of the above duties, the Council must serve a remedial notice on the 
landlord. The remedial notice is a notice served under Regulation 5 of 
these Regulations. 

 
3.5 If the landlord then fails to take the remedial action specified in the 

notice within the specified timescale, the Council can require a landlord 
to pay a penalty charge. The power to charge a penalty arises from 
Regulation 8 of these Regulations 

 
3.6 A landlord will not be considered to be in breach of their duty to comply 

with the remedial notice, if they can demonstrate they have taken all 
reasonable steps to comply. This can be done by making written 
representations to the Council at the address given at the bottom of 
this document within 28 days of when the remedial notice is served.   

 
3.7 Folkestone & Hythe District Council will impose a penalty charge where 

it is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that the landlord has not 
complied with the action specified in the remedial notice within the 
required timescale.  

 
4.0 The purpose of imposing a financial penalty 
 
4.1 The purpose of the Council exercising its regulatory powers is to 

protect the interests of the public.  
 
4.2 The aims of financial penalties on landlords are to: 
 

 Lower the risk to tenant’s health and safety 

 Reimburse the costs incurred by the Council in arranging remedial 
action in default of the landlord  

 Change the behaviour of the landlord and aim to prevent future non-
compliance 

 Penalise the landlord for not installing alarms after being required to do 
so, under notice 

 Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance with the 
regulations. 

 Be proportionate to potential harm outcomes, the nature of the breach, 
and the cost benefit to comply with these legal requirements.  
 

5.0 Criteria for the imposition of a financial penalty 
 
5.1 A failure to comply with the requirements of a remedial notice allows 

the Council to require payment of a penalty charge.  
 
5.2 In considering the imposition of a penalty, the authority will look at the 

evidence concerning the breach of the requirement of the notice. This 
could be obtained from a property inspection, or from information 
provided by the tenant or agent that no remedial action had been 
undertaken.  

Page 69



 25 

 
5.3 For example, landlords can demonstrate compliance with the 

Regulations by supplying dated photographs of alarms, together with 
installation records or confirmation by the tenant that a system is in 
proper working order.  

 
5.4 Landlords need to take steps to demonstrate that they have met the 

testing at the start of the tenancy requirements. Examples of how this 
can be achieved are by tenants signing an inventory form and that they 
were tested and were in working order at the start of the tenancy. 
Tenancy agreements can specify the frequency that a tenant should 
test the alarm to ensure it is in proper working order.  

 
5.5 In deciding whether it would be appropriate to impose a penalty, the 

authority will take full account of the particular facts and circumstances 
of the breach under consideration.  

 
5.6 A financial penalty charge will be considered appropriate if the Council 

is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities that the landlord who had 
been served with remedial notice under Regulation 5 had failed to take 
the remedial action specified in the notice within the time period 
specified. 

 
6.0 Criteria for determining the amount of a financial penalty 
 
6.1 The Regulations state the amount of the penalty charge must not 

exceed £5,000.  
 
6.2 The penalty charge comprises two parts, a punitive element for failure 

to comply with the absolute requirement to comply with a remedial 
notice and a cost element relating to the investigative costs, officer 
time, administration and any remedial works arranged and carried out 
by the Council’s contractors. 

 
6.3 The penalty charge is payable within 28 days beginning with the day on 

which the penalty charge notice is served.  
 
6.4 The Council has discretion to offer an early payment reduction if a 

landlord pays the penalty charge within 14 days beginning with the day 
the penalty charge notice is served.  

 
6.5 The charges are as follows: 
 

 Penalty Charge Early payment reduction 
(50%) if paid within 14 
days 

1st breach £2500 £1250 

Subsequent breaches £5000 £2500 

 
 

Page 70



 26 

 
 
 
7.0 Procedural matters for Penalty Charge Notices 
 
7.1 The Regulations impose a number of procedural steps which must be 

taken before the Council can impose a requirement on a landlord to 
pay a penalty charge. 

 
7.2 When the Council is satisfied that the landlord has failed to comply with 

the requirements of the remedial notice, all penalty charge notices will 
be served within 6 weeks.  

 
7.3 Where a review is requested within 28 days from when the penalty 

charge notice is served, the council will consider any representations 
made by the landlord.  All representations are to be sent to the address 
at the bottom of this document. The Council will notify the landlord of its 
decision by notice, which will be either to confirm, vary or withdraw the 
penalty charge notice.   

 
7.4 A landlord who has requested a review of a penalty charge notice and 

has been served with a notice confirming or varying the penalty charge 
notice, may appeal to the First-tier Tribunal against the Council’s 
decision. Appeals should be made within 28 days from the notice 
served of the Council’s decision on review. 

 
7.5 If the penalty charge notice is not paid, then recovery of the penalty 

charge will be by an order of the court and proceedings for recovery 
will commence after 30 days from the date when the penalty charge 
notice is served.  

 
7.6 However, in cases where a landlord has requested a review of the 

penalty charge notice, recovery will not commence until after 28 days 
from the date of the notice served giving the Council’s decision to vary 
or confirm the penalty charge notice. Where landlords make an appeal 
to the First-tier Tribunal, recovery will commence after 28 days from 
when the appeal is finally determined or withdrawn. 

 
8.0 Remedial Action taken in default of the landlord 
  
8.1 Where the Council is satisfied that a landlord has not complied with a 

specification described in the remedial notice in the required timescale 
and consent is given by the occupier, the Council will arrange for 
remedial works to be undertaken in default of the landlord. This work in 
default will be undertaken within 28 days of the Council being satisfied 
of the breach.  In these circumstances, battery operated alarms will be 
installed as a quick and immediate response.  

 
8.2 Smoke Alarms – In order to comply with these Regulations, smoke 

alarms will be installed at every storey of residential accommodation. 

Page 71



 27 

This may provide only a temporary solution as the property may be 
high risk because of: 

 
- its mode of occupancy such as a house in multiple occupation or 

building converted into one or more flats, 
- having an unsafe internal layout where fire escape routes pass 

through living rooms or kitchens, or  
- is 3 or more storeys high.  

 
8.3 A full fire risk assessment will subsequently be undertaken, with 

regards to the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and LACORS 
Housing - fire safety guidance. This will consider the adequacy of the 
type and coverage of the smoke alarm system, fire escape routes 
including escape windows and fire separation measures such as fire 
doors and protected walls and ceilings. Any further works required to 
address serious fire safety hazards in residential property, that are not 
undertaken though informal agreement, will be enforced using the 
Housing Act 2004, in accordance with the Council’s Enforcement 
Policy. 

 
8.4 Carbon Monoxide Alarms – In order to comply with these Regulations, 

a carbon monoxide alarm will be installed in every room containing a 
solid fuel combusting appliance.  This includes where useable open fire 
places are present. 

 
9.0 Contractors used for Works in Default 
 
9.1 The Council will obtain three quotes from local handyperson services to 

ensure value for money.  The alarms required to be installed through 
works in default of a remedial notice will be provided and installed by 
the Handy Person Service.  All handypersons will be authorised in 
writing by the Council to carry out this work on the Council’s behalf.  A 
copy of the invoice for carrying out works can be obtained by the 
landlord upon request to the address below. 

 
9.2 All communications for representations made against the Remedial 
Notice (regulation 5) or the Penalty Charge Notice (regulation 8) are to be 
sent to: 
 
Private Sector Housing 
Folkestone & Hythe District Council 
Civic Centre 
Castle Hill Avenue 
Folkestone 
Kent 
CT20 2QY Or by email to: privatesector.housing@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 
 
Appeals against a decision by the Council to confirm or vary a penalty charge 
notice can be made to the First Tier Tribunal. 
 

Page 72

mailto:privatesector.housing@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk


 28 

Appendix 3 - Penalties Policy for non-compliance with the Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standards 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) are designed to tackle the least 
energy-efficient properties in England and Wales – those rated F or G 
on their Energy Performance Certificate (EPC). The Regulations 
establish a minimum standard for both domestic and non-domestic 
privately rented property, effecting new tenancies from 1 April 2018. 

 
1.2 The Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy have 

produced guidance published in 2017 and updated in June 2018;  
Guidance for landlords and Local Authorities on the minimum level of 
energy efficiency required to let domestic property under the Energy 
Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2015.   The council have had regard to this guidance in formulating this 
policy. 

 
2.0 Purpose of this policy  
 
2.1 In accordance with Regulation 33 and 34 Local Authorities are 

responsible for enforcing the minimum level of energy provisions within 
their area. The purpose of this policy is to describe how officers of 
Folkestone & Hythe District Council will enforce the Regulations. 

 
2.2 In the first instance the council will informally notify Landlords who rent 

properties with an EPC of F or G that they do not meet the minimum 
energy efficiency standard. The Council will offer advice on how the 
standards can be met and request Landlords to register an exemption 
if appropriate.  

 
2.3 Landlords will be given an appropriate time to make the necessary 

changes but will be warned that if they continue to be in breach after 
the time given, an investigation will follow and formal enforcement 
action will be considered.  

 
2.4 The council may in circumstances where a landlord has a history of not 

complying with housing related regulatory requirements, decide to take 
formal action without giving an informal opportunity for the landlord to 
comply.  

 
2.5 The Council has discretion to serve Compliance Notices to request 

information from the landlord that will help them to decide whether 
there has been a breach. The council will serve Compliance Notices 
where the additional information is required. The Council will consider 
serving Penalty Notices where a landlord fails to comply with the 
Compliance Notice. 

 

Page 73



 29 

2.5 The Council will check the National PRS Exemptions Register and if it 
believes a landlord has registered false or misleading information it will 
consider serving a financial penalty.  

 
2.6 If offences under these regulations are committed the Council will, 

where appropriate, serve a Penalty Notice. This policy is a framework 
for officers to follow in how to determine the appropriate penalty.  

 
2.7 Under regulation 39 the Local Authority may publish some details of 

the landlord’s breach on a publicly accessible part of the PRS 
Exemptions Register. The council will place the information on the 
register at the appropriate time, for a minimum of 12 months.  

 
2.8 The Landlord has the right to ask for a Penalty Notice to be reviewed 

under Regulation 42.  Any request for review must be submitted to the 
Council within one calendar month of the Penalty Notice being served. 
Requests for review after the prescribed time will be considered at the 
Council’s discretion 

 
3.0 Framework of Penalties for non-compliance with the Minimum 

Energy Efficiency Standards. 
 

Breaching the ban on letting a property with an F or G rating for 
less than 3 months (statutory maximum £2000) 

First offence - £1000 (or £750 if paid 
within 21 days) 

All other offences - £2000 (or 
£1500 if paid within 21 days) 

 
 

Breaching the ban on letting a property with an F or G rating for 
more than three months (Statutory maximum: £4,000) 

First offence: £2,000 (or £1,500 if 
paid within 21 days) 

All other offences: £4,000 (or 
£3,000 if paid within 21 days) 

 

  

Registering false or misleading information on the PRS Exemptions 
Register (Statutory maximum: £1,000) 

First offence: £500 (or £375 if paid 
within 21 days) 

All other offences: £1,000 (or 
£750 if paid within 21 days) 

 

  

Failing to provide information to the council demanded by a 
Compliance Notice (statutory maximum £2,000) 

First offence: £1,000 (or £750 if paid 
within 21 days) 

All other offences: £2,000 (or 
£1,500 if paid within 21 days) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 30 

Annex 1 
 
Civil Penalties Policy 
 
Contents 
 
1.0 Introduction          31 
 
2.0 When a financial penalty is to be imposed     33 

 
3.0 Determining the starting point for a financial penalty    34 

 
4.0 Determining whether adjustment of the financial penalty 

is appropriate          40 
 

5.0 The right to make representations       41 
 

6.0 Final Notice and Right of appeal       43 
 

7.0 Reduction for early acceptance of guilt      44 
 

8.0 Unpaid financial penalties        45 
 

9.0 Multiple offences         46 
 

10.0 Help and Advice         46 
 

11.0 Making a complaint         47 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 31 

 

1.0 Introduction  

 

1.1 Section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 

(“the 2016 Act”) amended the Housing Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”) to 

allow financial penalties to be imposed by local housing authorities as 

an alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences.  

 

1.2 Under section 249A of the 2004 Act, a local housing authority may now 

impose a financial penalty on a person if satisfied, beyond reasonable 

doubt that the person's conduct amounts to a “relevant housing 

offence”. 

 

1.3 The relevant housing offences are offences under the 2004 Act, 

namely: 

 

 Failing to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30); 

 Failing to licence a house in multiple occupation (“HMO”) under Part 2 

(section 72(1)); 

 Knowingly permitting the over-occupation of an HMO licensed under 

Part 2 (section 72(2)); 

 Failing to comply with the condition of an HMO licence issued under 

Part 2 (section (72(3)); 

 Failing to licence a house subject to selective licensing under Part 3 

(section 95(1)); 

 Failing to comply with the condition of a selective licence issued under 

Part 3 (section (95(2)); 

 Failing to comply with the condition of a selective licence issued under 

Part 3 (section (95(2)); 

 Failing to comply with HMO management regulations (section 234(3)); 

 Failing to comply with the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private 

Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020. 

 

1.4 A person who commits any of the above-mentioned offences without 

reasonable excuse is liable on summary conviction to a fine of any 

amount in the Magistrates’ Court.  A financial penalty imposed by a 

local housing authority as an alternative must not exceed £30,000. 

 

1.5 Breaches of banning orders 

The 2016 Act also introduced banning orders under Chapter 2 of Part 

2. A local housing authority may apply to a First-tier Tribunal for a 

banning order against a person who has been convicted of a “banning 

order offence”. A banning order offence is an offence set out in The 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regulations 

Page 76



 32 

2018 (SI 2018/216). A range of offences under 14 Acts of Parliament 

are listed, including those listed above as relevant housing offences.  

 

1.6 A banning order made by a First-tier Tribunal may prohibit a person 

from engaging in one or more of the following activities:  

 Letting housing; 

 Engaging in letting agency work; 

 Engaging in property management work 

1.7 A person who breaches a banning order commits an offence under 
section 21(1) of the 2016 Act and is liable on summary conviction to 
imprisonment, or to a fine, or to both. However, a local housing 
authority may instead impose a financial penalty under section 23 of 
the 2016 Act of an amount not exceeding £30,000.  

 
1.8 A local authority cannot both prosecute and impose a financial penalty 

in respect of the same offence. It must decide which course of action is 
most appropriate. 

 
1.9 The same criminal standard of proof is required for a financial penalty 

as for a prosecution. Before taking formal action, a local housing 
authority must therefore be satisfied that if the case were to be 
prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Court, there would be a realistic 
prospect of conviction.  

 

1.10 In exercising their functions in respect of financial penalties, local 
housing authorities must have regard to any statutory guidance issued 
under section 23(10) and Schedules 1 and 9 of the 2016 Act. The 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government issued such 
statutory guidance in April 2018, namely: Civil penalties under the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 - Guidance for Local Housing 
Authorities. 

1.11 The guidance requires local housing authorities to develop and 
document a policy which sets out when it should prosecute and when it 
should impose a financial penalty; and the level of financial penalty it 
should impose in each case. 

1.12 The guidance states that local housing authorities should consider the 

following factors to help ensure that any financial penalty is set at an 

appropriate level:  

 Severity of the offence;  

 Culpability and track record of the offender;  

 The harm caused to the tenant (actual and potential);  

Page 77



 33 

 Punishment of the offender (the penalty should be proportionate to 

the offence and have a real economic impact);  

 Deter the offender from repeating the offence;  

 Deter others from committing similar offences;  

 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a 

result of committing the offence.  

1.13 This policy sets out how Folkestone and Hythe District Council (“the 

council”) will impose financial penalties in accordance with relevant 

legislation and statutory guidance.  

1.14 This policy takes effect from ***** 2020 and applies to all relevant 
offences (“relevant housing offences” and breaches of banning orders) 
committed on or after this date.  

 
2.0 When a financial penalty is to be imposed 

2.1 The Government announced the introduction of financial penalties for 

relevant housing offences with a press release entitled: “Tougher 

measures to target rogue landlords - New rules will help crackdown on 

rogue landlords that flout the rules and improve safety and affordability 

for renters.” The Government is obviously keen to see more 

enforcement action taken against the small minority of rogue landlords 

who neglect their responsibilities.  

2.2 Significantly, these new powers allow local housing authorities to retain 

the income received from financial penalties to fund private sector 

housing enforcement activities. This is clearly intended to help local 

housing authorities take more enforcement action.  

2.3 The council will use the new powers robustly whenever it is appropriate 

to do so. 

2.4 Each offence will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. However, the 

starting position is that the council will seek to impose a financial 

penalty for a relevant offence, unless there are circumstances relating 

to the offence that advocate pursuing a criminal prosecution instead.  

2.5 The Council may choose to prosecute for a relevant offence if it is of a 

particularly serious nature. The imposition of a financial penalty in 

accordance with the policy set out below may not constitute a sanction 

of sufficient severity in relation to some offences, as the policy has 

prescribed ranges and is further restricted by the statutory maximum of 

£30,000. If the council is of the opinion that an offence is of such 

serious nature that it warrants a more significant financial sanction than 

that which could be imposed by this policy, it will normally seek to 

prosecute the offender(s). 

Page 78



 34 

2.6 The breach of a banning order under the 2016 Act is a serious offence, 

and the council will give careful consideration to the option of 

prosecution in such cases, as the courts have the power to impose a 

prison sentence as a punishment. 

2.7 Prosecution may also be an appropriate course of action when an 

offender has committed the same offence on more than one occasion 

in the past. Preventing reoffending is an important consideration and a 

successful prosecution resulting in a criminal record might be a more 

significant deterrent in some circumstances.   

2.8 Wider public awareness may also be a key consideration. Prosecutions 

are held in the public domain and can be publicised by the council and 

local media. Such publicity in respect of an offender may be in the 

public interest in certain circumstances. Naming and shaming also 

helps to deter others from committing similar offences. If an offender is 

subject to a financial penalty, their personal information will not be 

available in the public domain.  

2.9 There may be other situations in which prosecution may be the most 

appropriate sanction. Accordingly, the council will carefully review the 

merits of prosecution for every offence before making a final decision 

as to an appropriate sanction. 

3.0 Determining the starting point for a financial penalty 

3.1 A financial penalty may be of any amount up to the statutory maximum 

of £30,000. However, local housing authorities are expected to reserve 

the higher amounts for the worst offenders and take a logical and 

proportionate approach to setting the level of financial penalties more 

generally. The overarching principle is that the more serious the 

offence, the higher the penalty should be. The penalty for each offence 

must therefore be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

3.2 Having due regard to the statutory guidance published by Government, 

the council has developed the Table of Financial Penalties set out 

below. The table specifies a range of starting points from £1,000 to 

£30,000. The starting point is determined by the severity of the offence, 

which is based on an assessment of the following factors: 

 Culpability 

 Track record 

 Portfolio size 

 Risk of Harm 

3.3 The following paragraphs set out how each determinant is assessed. 

3.4 Culpability is a key factor in determining the severity of an offence. 

Therefore, the level of any penalty will initially be set by calculating the 

Page 79



 35 

culpability category, which then determines the culpability premium. 

There are four culpability categories, namely:  

 Very high 

 High 

 Medium 

 Low 

3.5 Very High – This category applies to offences where the offender has 

deliberately breached or flagrantly disregarded the law.  This category 

is subject to a 100% culpability premium. 

3.6 High – This category applies to offences where the offender had 

foresight of a potential offence, but through wilful blindness, decided 

not to take appropriate and/or timely action.   This category is subject 

to an 80% culpability premium. 

3.7 Medium – This category applies to offences committed through an act 

or omission that a person exercising reasonable care would not 

commit. Any person or other legal entity operating as a landlord or 

agent in the private rented sector is running a business and is expected 

to be aware of their legal obligations.  This category is subject to a 60% 

culpability premium. 

3.8 Low – This category applies to offences where there was a fault on the 

part of the offender, but significant efforts had been made to secure 

compliance with the law, but those efforts were not sufficient.  This 

category may also apply to situations where there was no warning of a 

potential offence.  This is category is subject to a 40% culpability 

premium. 

3.9 The council would expect a good landlord or agent to have very little 

contact with the council's Private Sector Housing Team, other than for 

advice or for licensing obligations. They would be expected to maintain 

their properties in a good and safe condition and keep up-to-date and 

comply with all relevant legal requirements. Unfortunately, there are 

some landlords and agents who are subject to enforcement action 

owing to their failure to maintain their properties in an acceptable 

condition.  

3.10 The second step in determining the amount of financial penalty relates 

to the offender’s track record. A historically non-compliant landlord or 

agent should be subject to a more significant penalty on the basis that 

they have yet to change their behaviour. A penalty amount adjustment 

relating to the offender’s track record is therefore appropriate. This 

should help deter repeat offending. 

3.11 The council will review all relevant records to identify any previous 

evidence of legislative failings. However, only evidence relating to the 

Page 80



 36 

five years immediately prior to the offence date will be taken into 

account. The evidence reviewed will include:  

 Any previous convictions for housing related offences;  

 Whether previously subject to a financial penalty for a housing 

related contravention; 

 Whether previously subject to, or associated with, statutory 

enforcement action (e.g. Improvement Notice, Emergency 

Prohibition Order, etc.); and  

 The number of genuine housing condition complaints received in 

respect of properties associated with the offender. 

3.12 Following the review, the offender’s track record will be classed as one 

of the following categories:   

 Significant;  

 Some;  

 None or negligible.  

3.13 Significant - Where there is evidence of multiple enforcement 

interventions by the council’s Private Sector Housing Team, together 

with evidence of non-compliance, the significant category will be used. 

In most cases, this category will also be used for any offender who has 

been successfully prosecuted for a housing offence or been subject to 

a housing related-financial penalty. 

3.14 Some - This category will be used where the offender is associated 

with more evidence than would normally be expected of a good 

landlord or agent having regard to the size and nature of their portfolio. 

There is likely to be evidence of statutory enforcement action. 

3.15 None or negligible - This category will be used if, following a review of 

the council’s records, there is no relevant evidence associated with the 

offender. Any unsubstantiated housing condition complaints will be 

disregarded. The council may also exercise its discretion to disregard 

any evidence where the issues were minor in nature and there was no 

reluctance on the part of the landlord or agent to resolve the issues 

within reasonable timescales. 

3.16 The descriptor “Negligible” has been included to allow for a fair and 

reasonable review of evidence in respect of landlords and agents with 

larger portfolios. Therefore, if the evidence is negligible having regard 

to the size of the portfolio in Folkestone and Hythe, this category will be 

used.  

3.17 Portfolio size - The size of an offender’s portfolio will be taken into 

account when determining the amount of financial penalty. While all 

Page 81



 37 

landlords and agents are expected to be aware of their legal 

obligations, the larger the business is, the more proficient and 

professional the landlord or agent should be. Furthermore, offenders 

with a larger portfolio will have more assets and a higher rental income 

and as such the penalty should have regard to their ability to pay. 

3.18 Taking into account the size of the offender’s portfolio helps ensure that 

the penalty is set at a high enough level to have a real economic 

impact, such that it serves as an appropriate punishment as well as a 

deterrent.  

3.19 The third step in determining the amount of financial penalty requires 

the council to allocate a portfolio size. There are four size categories 

which relate to the number of units of accommodation the offender has 

ownership of, responsibility for, or association with. The size categories 

are:   

 One unit of accommodation;  

 Two to four units of accommodation;  

 Five to 19 units of accommodation;  

 20 or more units of accommodation.  
 

3.20 A unit of accommodation is a single dwelling house, a flat (whether self-

contained or not) or a room or bedsit within a house in multiple 

occupation (“HMO”).   

3.21 The common parts of a building containing one or more flats will also 

be counted as one unit of accommodation for the purposes of 

determining the portfolio size, if the landlord or agent concerned is only 

responsible for the common parts and not for any flats within the 

building. If the landlord or agent concerned is responsible for one or 

more flats within the building, the common parts will be disregarded.  

3.22 Some offenders own properties directly; some are directors of 

companies which own property. It is also not uncommon for an offender 

to be strongly associated with the management of a rented property, 

but actual ownership, for whatever reason, is in the name of a husband, 

wife or partner. All units of accommodation that are clearly associated 

with the offender will be taken into account when determining the 

portfolio size.  

3.23 The council will determine which category to place the offender in using 

the information it already holds and any information it can reasonably 

obtain in making the assessment.   

3.24 If the council cannot ascertain any information as to whether the 

offender has any other properties, an assumption will be made, with the 

default position being two to four units of accommodation. However, if 

an agent is the offender, it will be assumed that they are responsible for 

20 or more units of accommodation.  

Page 82



 38 

3.25 Risk of Harm - The fourth step in determining the amount of financial 

penalty concerns the risk of harm associated with the offence. The 

nature of the exposure to a harmful occurrence is an important factor 

when considering the severity of an offence.  

3.26  The council will make an assessment of the risk of harm by having 

regard to the seriousness of the harm risked as well as the likelihood of 

that harm occurring. The offence will be placed into one of the following 

four categories:  

 Level 1  

 Level 2  

 Level 3 

 Level 4.  
 
3.27 To assist in determining the level of risk, potential harm outcomes are 

classified as serious, severe or extreme and the likelihood classified as 

low, medium or high.  

3.28 Level 1 - This category will be used when the risk of harm does not fall 

within the Level 2, Level 3 or Level 4 categories.  Any offence 

associated with the operation of an unlicensed premises under the 

HMO and selective licensing regimes will usually fall into this category 

if there is no particular risk of harm associated with the condition or 

management of the property concerned.  

3.29 Level 2 - The use of this category may infer that the offence was 
associated with an extreme harm outcome, but the likelihood of a 
harmful event occurring was low. This category may be used when the 
risk of harm related to a severe harm outcome and the likelihood of a 
harmful event occurring was medium. This category may also be used 
when the risk of harm related to a serious harm outcome and the 
likelihood of a harmful event occurring was high.  

3.30 Level 3 - The use of this category may infer that the offence was 
associated with an extreme harm outcome and the likelihood of a 
harmful event occurring was medium. This category may also be used 
when the risk of harm related to a severe harm outcome and the 
likelihood of a harmful event occurring was high.   

3.31 Level 4 - The use of this category will usually infer that the offence was 
associated with an extreme harm outcome and the likelihood of a 
harmful event occurring was high. 

3.32 Table of Financial Penalties - Having made the four-step assessment 
described above, the council will determine the starting point for the 
financial penalty using the Table of Financial Penalties set out on the 
next page.   

 

Page 83



 39 

Table of Financial Penalties 

Culpability  Track Record  Portfolio Size  Risk of Harm  

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 4  

Very High  

  

(100%  

Premium)  

Significant  

1  £7,500  £10,000  £12,500  £20,000  

2 to 4  £10,000  £12,500  £15,000  £22,500  

5 to 19  £15,000  £17,500  £20,000  £27,500  

20 +  £17,500  £20,000  £22,500  £30,000  

Some  

1  £5,000  £7,500  £10,000  £17,500  

2 to 4  £7,500  £10,000  £12,500  £20,000  

5 to 19  £12,500  £15,000  £17,500  £25,000  

20 +  £15,000  £17,500  £20,000  £27,500  

None or negligible  

1  £2,500  £5,000  £7,500  £15,000  

2 to 4  £5,000  £7,500  £10,000  £17,500  

5 to 19  £10,000  £12,500  £15,000  £22,500  

20 +  £12,500  £15,000  £17,500  £25,000  

High 

 

(80%  

Premium)  

Significant  

1  £6,000  £8,000  £10,000  £16,000  

2 to 4  £8,000  £10,000  £12,000  £18,000  

5 to 19  £12,000  £14,000  £16,000  £22,000  

20 +  £14,000  £16,000  £18,000  £24,000  

Some  

1  £4,000  £6,000  £8,000  £14,000  

2 to 4  £6,000  £8,000  £10,000  £16,000  

5 to 19  £10,000  £12,000  £14,000  £20,000  

20 +  £12,000  £14,000  £16,000  £22,000  

None or negligible  

1  £2,000  £4,000  £6,000  £12,000  

2 to 4  £4,000  £6,000  £8,000  £14,000  

5 to 19  £8,000  £10,000  £12,000  £18,000  

20 +  £10,000  £12,000  £14,000  £20,000  

Medium  

  

(60%  

Premium)  

Significant  

1  £4,500  £6,000  £7,500  £12,000  

2 to 4  £6,000  £7,500  £9,000  £13,500  

5 to 19  £9,000  £10,500  £12,000  £16,500  

20 +  £10,500  £12,000  £13,500  £18,000  

Some  

1  £3,000  £4,500  £6,000  £10,500  

2 to 4  £4,500  £6,000  £7,500  £12,000  

5 to 19  £7,500  £9,000  £10,500  £15,000  

20 +  £9,000  £10,500  £12,000  £16,500 

None or negligible  

1  £1,500  £3,000  £4,500  £9,000  

2 to 4  £3,000  £4,500  £6,000  £10,500  

5 to 19  £6,000  £7,500  £9,000  £13,500  

20 +  £7,500  £9,000  £10,500  £15,000  

Low  

  

(40%  

Premium)  

Significant  

1  £3,000  £4,000  £5,000  £8,000  

2 to 4  £4,000  £5,000  £6,000  £9,000  

5 to 19  £6,000  £7,000  £8,000  £11,000  

20 +  £7,000  £8,000  £9,000  £12,000  

Some  

1  £2,000  £3,000  £4,000  £7,000  

2 to 4  £3,000  £4,000  £5,000  £8,000  

5 to 19  £5,000  £6,000  £7,000  £10,000  

20 +  £6,000  £7,000  £8,000  £11,000  

None or negligible  

1  £1,000  £2,000  £3,000  £6,000  

2 to 4  £2,000  £3,000  £4,000  £7,000  

5 to 19  £4,000  £5,000  £6,000  £9,000  

20 +  £5,000  £6,000  £7,000  £10,000  

Page 84



 40 

4.0 Determining whether adjustment of the financial penalty is 

appropriate 

4.1  The level of financial penalty should, in a fair and proportionate way, 

meet the objectives of punishment, deterrence and the removal of gain. 

As such, the council will, once the starting point has been determined, 

review the proposed financial penalty and consider whether there are 

any other mitigating or aggravating factors that should be taken into 

account when setting the amount of financial penalty. If there are none, 

no adjustment will be made to the starting point identified by the Table 

of Financial Penalties. 

4.2 Some examples of mitigating and aggravating factors are given below. 

However, the list is not exhaustive, and the council may take into 

account any factor deemed to be relevant.  

4.3 Hardship (Landlord) - If at this stage of the process, the council is 

aware of the offender’s personal situation and financial position, and is 

of the view that there are exceptional circumstances, it may be 

appropriate to reduce the amount of financial penalty. 

4.4 Hardship (Tenant) - If, owing to the imposition of a financial penalty on 
a landlord, the tenant will - through no fault of their own - experience 
hardship, the council may consider reducing the amount of financial 
penalty, but only in exceptional circumstances.  

4.5 Previous offences - While the Table of Financial Penalties takes into 

account the offender’s track record, there may be circumstances in 

which the nature of previous offences require a more robust approach 

to punishment.  

4.6 For example, if a historically non-compliant landlord persists in 

operating unlicensed premises, the starting point may not be sufficiently 

high enough in certain circumstances. Such circumstances could 

include when there are no significant hazards associated with the 

unlicensed premises. If a Significant track record category is already in 

use for a certain offender, repeated offences where the Culpability is 

very high would be restricted owing to the Risk of Harm categorisation. 

However, the repeated offences would be demonstrating a complete 

disregard for the law. Therefore, for any repeated offence so restricted, 

the council may consider increasing the amount of financial penalty.  

4.7  Scale of Exposure - The greater number of people exposed to the risk 

of harm, the more significant the offence. While the Table of Financial 

Penalties takes into account the risk of harm, it does not take into 

account the number of persons exposed to that harm. Accordingly, if 

the number of persons exposed is higher than average, the council 

may consider increasing the amount of financial penalty.    

Page 85



 41 

4.8 A risk of harm associated with a typical family unit would not usually 

necessitate an increase. However, if the risk of harm was in an HMO or 

the common parts of a building occupied by numerous persons, an 

increase in the amount of financial penalty may be appropriate.  

4.9 Actual Harm - If actual harm has occurred, the council may consider 
increasing the amount of financial penalty. If the harm outcome is of a 
serious nature, it is likely the council will seek to review the financial 
penalty upwards.  

4.10 Adjustment range - The adjustment range will be limited to an amount 
equal to 50% of the starting point. The maximum 50% variance may be 
above or below the initial starting point. For example, if the starting 
point is £9,000, the maximum 50% variance is £4,500. As such, the 
financial penalty could be reduced to an amount not lower than £4,500 
or increased to an amount not greater than £13,500. 

 
4.11 The council will not, under any circumstances, vary the financial 

penalty by more than 50%, and is restricted by the statutory maximum 
of £30,000.   

 

4.12 Decision making - If the council decides to vary the proposed financial 
penalty away from the starting point identified in the Table of Financial 
Penalties, it will make a record of its decision and notify the offender of 
the reasons for that decision.   

 
4.13 To ensure fairness and transparency, the decision to vary a financial 

penalty will be subject to review by a senior manager of the council. In 

the first instance, the variation will be proposed by the Private Sector 

Housing Team Leader. The proposal will be reviewed by the Lead 

Specialist for Housing, or an officer of similar or higher seniority, and a 

final decision made by that senior manager. From time to time, the job 

titles of officers are altered by the council and any reference to the 

Private Sector Housing Team Leader or the Lead Specialist for 

Housing may be deemed to include a reference to any future 

equivalent post.  

5.0 Right to make representations  

 
5.1  Notice of Intent - Before imposing a financial penalty, the council must 

first give the offender notice of its intention to impose such a penalty. 

This type of notice is known as a “Notice of Intent”.  

5.2 The Notice of Intent must be served within six months of the offence 

date. However, if the offence is ongoing, the Notice of Intent may be 

served at any time while the conduct is continuing. If the conduct stops, 

the Notice of Intent must be served within six months of the date the 

conduct ceased.  

Page 86



 42 

5.3 For example, if a person fails to licence an HMO subject to mandatory 

licensing without reasonable excuse, the council may at any time while 

the HMO remains unlicensed, serve a Notice of Intent. If such a person 

makes a valid licence application, the council will still have the option to 

serve a Notice of Intent, but if it chooses to do so, it must serve the 

Notice of Intent within six months of the date the valid licence 

application was made.  

5.4 The Notice of Intent must set out:  

 The amount of the proposed financial penalty;  

 The reasons for proposing to impose the financial 
penalty, and 

 Information about the right to make representations.  
 

5.5  Any person served with a Notice of Intent may make written 

representations to the council about the proposal to impose a financial 

penalty. Any representations must be made within 28 days of the date 

the Notice of Intent was served. Written representations may be made 

in respect of any matter. 

5.6 The offender may wish to submit information as to their financial 
position. If the council was aware of the financial position of the 
offender before serving the Notice of Intent, the council may have 
already made adjustments to the proposed financial penalty. However, 
this may not be the case and offenders are advised to use the 28-day 
period for submitting written representations to make the council aware 
of their financial situation, particularly if they would have difficulties in 
paying the proposed financial penalty.  

5.7 It is important to note that any person who supplies information to the 
council that is false or misleading, whether knowingly or recklessly, in 
connection with any proposed financial penalty, commits an offence 
and is liable on summary conviction in the Magistrates’ Court to an 
unlimited fine.  

5.8 The council will carefully review any written representations received 

during the 28-day period before taking any further action. There is no 

statutory timeframe for the review process, but the council will seek to 

make a decision as to its proposed course of action as soon as 

possible.   

5.9 The council will take one of the following courses of action:  

 Withdraw the proposal to impose a financial penalty;  

 Impose a financial penalty of an amount lower than that proposed in 

the Notice of Intent;  

 Impose the financial penalty proposed in the Notice of Intent;  

 Propose to impose a financial penalty of an amount higher than that 

specified in the Notice of Intent.  

Page 87



 43 

5.10 If the council decides to withdraw the proposal to impose a financial 

penalty, it will confirm its decision in writing. If the council decides to 

impose a financial penalty of a lower or equal amount to that proposed 

in the Notice of Intent, it will serve a Final Notice.  

5.11 If the offender has provided written representations that increase the 

severity of the offence committed, the council may seek to impose a 

higher financial penalty. If the council decides to take that course of 

action, it will withdraw the original Notice of Intent and serve a revised 

Notice of Intent proposing an increased financial penalty. The offender 

would then receive an additional 28 days in which to make further 

written representations.  

5.12 A reduction in the amount of financial penalty to be imposed may arise 

from the council altering the starting point on the Table of Financial 

Penalties.  

5.13 Whether the council decides to alter the starting point or not following 

any written representations, the council will not reduce the financial 

penalty by more than 50% of the finalised starting point.   

5.14 If the council decides not to alter the starting point after its review of 

any written representations received, and it has already used its 

discretion to make the maximum 50% reduction from that starting point 

prior to serving the Notice of Intent, no further reduction will be made.  

5.15 To ensure fairness and transparency, every decision to impose a 

financial penalty will be subject to review by a senior manager of the 

council. In the first instance, the imposition of a financial penalty will be 

proposed by the Private Sector Housing Team Leader, who will provide 

an assessment of any written representations received. The proposal 

will be reviewed by the Lead Specialist for Housing, or an officer of 

similar or higher seniority, and a final decision made by that senior 

manager.  

6.0 Final Notice and right of appeal 

6.1 If the council decides to impose a financial penalty following its review 

of any written representations received, it will serve a “Final Notice” on 

the offender. 

6.2 The Final Notice will set out: 

 The amount of the financial penalty 

 The reasons for imposing the penalty 

 Information about how to pay the penalty 

 The period for payment of the penalty 

 Information about rights of appeal 

 The consequences of failure to comply with the notice. 

Page 88



 44 

6.3 The period in which a financial penalty must be paid has been 
determined by statute. All financial penalties must be paid within 28 
days of the date for the Final Notice being served. 

 
6.4 A person on whom a Final Notice has been served may appeal to the 

First-Tier Tribunal against the decision to impose the financial penalty 
or the amount of the financial penalty. 

 
6.5 Appeals should be made within 28 days of the date of the Final Notice 

being served. 
 
6.6 Once an appeal has been lodged, the Final Notice is suspended until 

the appeal has been finally determined or withdrawn. 
 
6.7 The First-tier Tribunal have the power to confirm, vary (reduce or 

increase), or cancel the Final Notice. If the First-tier Tribunal decides to 
increase the financial penalty, it may only do so up to the statutory 
maximum of £30,000. 

 
6.8 As of ****date, the address and contact details of the First-tier Tribunal 

(Southern Region) were:  

First-tier Tribunal - (Property Chamber) Residential Property   
Havant Justice Centre   
The Court House   
Elmleigh Road  
Havant  
Hampshire  PO9 2AL  
 
Email: rpsouthern@justice.gov.uk | Tel: 01243 779 394 | Fax: 0870 
7395 900  

 

6.9 The address of the First-tier Tribunal changes from time to time, but the 

latest address will be detailed on any Final Notice served and can be 

found at:   

https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber  

 

7.0 Reduction for early acceptance of guilt 
 

7.1 As with criminal prosecutions, the council is of the opinion that an early 
acceptance of guilt is in the public interest. It saves public time and 
money.   

7.2 An offender can demonstrate an early acceptance of guilt by paying the 

financial penalty within 21 days of the date the Final Notice was served. 

If cleared payment is made within this time period, the offender can 

benefit from a 25% reduction in the amount of financial penalty 

payable.   

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber


 45 

7.3 A Final Notice will set out the finalised financial penalty amount 

determined having regard to this policy and an amount equal to 75% of 

that sum, which would be accepted if received within the 21-day period.  

7.4 If the council is required to defend its decision at the First-tier Tribunal, 

there will inevitably be additional costs in officer time and expenses. As 

such, no reduction is available for cases subject to an appeal to the 

First-tier Tribunal. If an offender makes an early payment at the 

reduced rate, but then decides to appeal at a later date, the council will 

seek the full finalised amount during the appeal proceedings.    

8.0 Unpaid financial penalties 

8.1 The council will take robust action to recover any financial penalty (or 

part thereof) not paid within 28 days of the date the Final Notice was 

served.   

8.2 An application for an order of the County Court will be made in respect 

of all unpaid financial penalties. A certificate signed by the Chief 

Finance Officer of the council stating that the financial penalty (or part 

thereof) has not been paid will be accepted by the court as conclusive 

evidence of that fact, in accordance with Paragraph 11 of Schedule 

13A to the 2004 Act (relevant housing offences) and Paragraph 11 of 

Schedule 1 to the 2016 Act (breaches of banning orders).  

8.3 In taking court action, the council would seek to recover interest and 

any court expenses incurred, in addition to claiming the full amount of 

unpaid financial penalty.  

8.4 If an offender does not comply with an order of the court, the council 
will make an application to enforce the judgement. The type of 
enforcement action pursued would depend on the circumstances of the 
case and the amount owed. The most likely types of enforcement 
action are shown below.   

8.5 Court Bailiffs - A court bailiff will ask for payment. If the debt is not paid, 
the bailiff will visit the offender’s home or business address to establish 
whether anything can be seized and sold to pay the outstanding debt.  

8.6 Charging order (Order of sale) - the council can apply to place a 
charging order on any property owned by the offender. If a debt 
remains outstanding after a charging order has been registered, the 
council can make an application for an order of sale. The property 
would then be subject to an enforced sale and the proceeds used to 
settle the debt owed to the council.  

8.7 Attachment to earnings order - If the offender is in paid employment, 
the council can apply to the court for an attachment to earnings order. 
Such an order would require the offender’s employer to make salary 
deductions. Amounts would be deducted regularly at the direction of 
the court until the debt owed to the council has been fully discharged.   

Page 90



 46 

9.0  Multiple offences 

9.1 When considering imposing more than one financial penalty on an 
offender as a consequence of that offender committing more than one 
offence, the council will carefully consider whether the cumulative 
financial penalty would be just and proportionate in the circumstances 
having regard to the offending behaviour as a whole.   

 

9.2 Taking into account the principle of totality ensures that the cumulative 

effect of any sanctions imposed by the council does not constitute an 

unjust and disproportionate punishment.   

9.3 Determining a just and proportionate punishment - The council will 
initially determine the amount of financial penalty that should be 
imposed in respect of each offence having regard to this policy. The 
council will then add up the financial penalties and make an 
assessment as to whether the cumulative total is just and 
proportionate.  

 

9.4  If the council considers the cumulative total to be just and 

proportionate, it will normally impose a financial penalty for each 

offence.  

9.5 However, if the council considers the cumulative total to be unjust and 

disproportionate, it will take one or both of the following actions to 

ensure that the cumulative total is reduced to an amount that does 

constitute a just and proportionate punishment.  

9.6 Reduction of financial penalty - The council may use its discretion to 
reduce the amount of a financial penalty at the review and adjustment 
stage, irrespective of whether or not there are other mitigating or 
aggravating factors. Any reduction would be similarly limited to an 
amount equal to 50% of the starting point identified in the Table of 
Financial Penalties. The additional reduction may be applied to one or 
more of the offences under consideration.  

9.7 Decision not to impose a financial penalty - The council may use its 
discretion to not impose a financial penalty in respect of every offence 
under consideration. If the council decides to take this course of action, 
the offence or offences disregarded will usually be of a lower severity.  

 

9.8 Rent Repayment Orders – In consideration of totality, the council will 
also take into account any proposal to pursue a Rent Repayment Order 
in respect of the same behaviour. 

 
10.0     Help and Advice 
 
10.1   If you would like further advice or clarification, the Private Sector 

Housing Team can help. Please ring us on 01303 853660 and speak to 

Page 91



 47 

one of our officers. We can also be contacted by email on: 

privatesector.housing@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk    

 Alternatively, you can write to us at:  

Private Sector Housing  
Folkestone and Hythe District Council 

Civic Centre  

Castle Hill Avenue 
Folkestone 
Kent 
CT20 2QY 

11.0 Making a complaint  
 

11.1 The Private Sector Housing Team aims to provide the best possible 

service. However, if you are not happy with the service you receive you 

can make a formal complaint.  

11.2 More information about how to make a formal complaint can be found 

on the council’s website at: www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk.  

Alternatively, you can call, email or write to us: Telephone: 01303 

853660. Email: complaints@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk  

Address: Complaints, Folkestone and Hythe District Council, Civic 
Centre, Castle Hill Avenue, Folkestone, Kent, CT20 2QY. 

 
11.3 If, after having gone through the council’s formal complaints process, 

you believe that the council has not handled your complaint properly, 

you have the right to request an independent investigation by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman. The Ombudsman Service 

will review your complaint and decide if it is appropriate to carry out an 

investigation. The service is free of charge.  

11.4 You can make a complaint by phone or online at:  

The Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman 
Telephone: 0300 061 0614   
Website: www.lgo.org.uk.  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 92

mailto:privatesector.housing@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk
http://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/
http://www.thanet.gov.uk/
mailto:complaints@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk
http://www.lgo.org.uk/

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	4 Oportunitas Limited - Progress Report and Business Plan 2020 - 2022
	Appendix 1 Oportunitas Financial Outturn 31 March 2020
	Appendix 2 Oportunitas Financial Update 20-21
	Appendix 3 Business Plan 2020-2022 Update 240820_V1
	Appendix 3a Oportunitas Property Portfolio 310320

	5 Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Civil Penalties Policy
	Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2020


